
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 27 February 2017 
7.00 pm 

COMMITTEE ROOM 1 - HAMMERSMITH TOWN HALL 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Caroline Needham (Chair) 
Councillor Alan De'Ath 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery 
 

Councillor Caroline Ffiske (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Marcus Ginn 
 

Co-optees 

Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 
Philippa O'Driscoll, Westminster Diocesan Education Service Representative 
Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 
Vic Daniels, Parent Governor Representative 
Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative 
 

 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk   
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 17 February 2017 
 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

27 February 2017 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 8 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2017. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 To invite questions from members of the public. 
 
Anyone is welcome to ask questions without giving notice but if you 
have complex questions you can submit them in advance to ensure a 
more detailed answer. Contact: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


5.   EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S UPDATE 
 

9 - 15 

6.   CABINET MEMBERS UPDATE   

 The Acting Cabinet Member for Children and Education will give a short 
verbal update on their activities since the previous meeting. 
 

 

7.   CHILD POVERTY STRATEGY  16 - 55 

 In 2014 the Council made a commitment to develop a strategy to 
promote early intervention and reduce child poverty. The Child Poverty 
Strategy sets out the response to fulfil this commitment - highlighting 
actions to support families and their children facing difficult 
circumstances such as low income, poverty, housing, and high levels of 
need. 
 

 

8.   SCHOOL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2017  56 - 66 

 This report details the outcomes of the Summer 2016 assessments and 
examinations in both primary and secondary schools - and the current 
position with regard to Ofsted school inspections. 
 

 

9.   CHILDCARE UPDATE   

 To follow. 
 

To follow 

10.   WORK PROGRAMME  67 - 68 

 The Committee is asked to review its work programme for 2017. 
 

 

11.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting will be held on 24 April 2017. 
 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Children and 
Education Policy and 

Accountability 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 30 January 2017 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Caroline Needham (Chair), Alan De'Ath, 
Elaine Chumnery, and Marcus Ginn 
 
Co-opted members: Eleanor Allen (London Diocesan Board for Schools), Nandini 
Ganesh (Parentsactive Representative), Philippa O'Driscoll (Westminster Diocesan 
Education Service Representative), Nadia Taylor (Parent Governor Representative), 
Vic Daniels (Parent Governor Representative) and Matt Jenkins (Teacher 
Representative) 
 
Other Councillors: Councillors Sue Fennimore (Cabinet Member for Social 
Inclusion and Acting Cabinet Member for Children and Education) and Max Schmid 
(Cabinet Member for Finance) 
 
Officers: Clare Chamberlain (Executive Director of Children’s Services), Steve Miley 
(Director for Family Services), Ian Heggs (Director for Education), Dave McNamara 
(Director for Finance and Resources), Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Finance Director), 
Brenda Whinnett (Youth Voice Coordinator), Thomas Gell (Customer Relationship 
Manager), Justine May (Head of Commissioning), Lauren Fernback (Assistant 
Virtual School Head), Helen Farrell (Assistant Director for Looked After Children and 
Care Leavers), and David Abbott (Scrutiny Manager) 
 

1. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2016 were agreed and signed by 
the Chair. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Caroline Ffiske. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
There were no public questions. 
 

5. YOUTH COUNCIL UPDATE  
 
Members of the Youth Council gave a presentation to the committee highlighting the 
following achievements over the past year: 

 H&F established its first Youth Cabinet. 

 Aminata Koroma was elected as the first ever Youth Mayor of H&F and 
Joshua Yirkenyi was elected as Deputy Youth Mayor. 

 Johnley Videna, who attends Burlington Danes Academy in White City, was 
named as the borough’s Member of Youth Parliament on 22 March. He has 
taken part in many events including The House of Commons Debate, Days of 
Action, and The Annual Sitting. 

 In 2016 H&F established a Youth Cabinet to lead and co-chair the Youth 
Council and to lead on the Youth Council Manifesto pledges – Child Poverty, 
Tackling Discrimination, and the Living Wage.  

 Thousands of young people have given their views through the Make Your 
Mark campaign, Take Over Day, and a range of consultations. 

 
Brenda Whinnett noted that the Youth Voice team had taken on an apprentice – a 
young person who had experienced children's services – and they hoped for more 
the in future. The Youth Voice team’s areas for development were the upcoming 
elections for the next Youth Mayor and Member of the Youth Parliament, developing 
opportunities for young people with SEN, and developing more creative engagement 
events led by young people. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath noted that LGBT history month was coming up and asked if 
the Youth Council could promote it (along with other similar events – black history 
month etc.). Brenda Whinnett said they were planning to do exactly that and had a 
planning session booked for the following evening. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked if the Make Your Mark survey touched on 
personal safety – particularly in relation to knife crime. Brenda Whinnett responded 
that the questions came from the National Youth Parliament but the Youth Council 
used the local results to inform their manifesto. While there wasn’t a question on 
safety in the survey that topic did get addressed in other ways and would be 
discussed at the Youth Council meeting on 31 January 2017. 
 
Nadia Taylor asked if the Youth Council worked with their counterparts in nearby 
boroughs. Brenda Whinnett said there was some informal knowledge sharing but 
their focus was on local issues. 
 
Nandini Ganesh said she would like to see more Youth Voice events become 
accessible to young people with disabilities – particularly Youth Take Over Day. 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Brenda Whinnett said she would be trying to make events more accessible in future 
and would like to work with Action on Disability and Parentsactive for advice and 
guidance. Nandini suggested she could also look at mentoring from other young 
people. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked if the Youth Council did any work around hate 
crime. Brenda Whinnett responded that they produced a video for the recent hate 
crime conference at the Council, as well as attending related events at City Hall. Hat 
crime was also addressed in the Make Your Mark survey. It would be an area for 
focus going forward. 
 
The Chair noted that the Youth Mayor had already made a very positive start, 
establishing what will be a permanent feature of civic life in the borough. She offered 
her congratulations on behalf of the committee to everyone involved in the Youth 
Council. 
 

6. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S UPDATE  
 
Clare Chamberlain presented the report that provided an overview of recent 
developments in the Children’s Services department. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath, referring to the Annual NEET Scorecard section of the 
report, asked for the total number of NEETs in the borough. Officers said the figure 
was less than 100 - an exact figure would be supplied outside the meeting. 
 
Matt Jenkins asked what the Council could do to improve post-16 funding in the 
borough – noting that H&F was below the national average for engaging with 
NEETS. Ian Heggs responded that the cohort of young people who started a sixth 
form course then dropped out were very difficult to re-engage. The Council did work 
with local colleges to try and ensure young people were better informed when they 
decided to move on. Dave McNamara added that at the national level there were no 
protection for 16-19 funding which led to significant funding reductions by the DfE. 
 
The Chair said she had discussed apprenticeships with the Youth Council and the 
feedback from young people was that parents felt they were lower status and 
discouraged young people taking them up. The Council needed to do more to raise 
their status and show the benefits of apprenticeships. 
 
Ian Heggs noted that schools had their own funding to provide information and 
guidance – the Council encouraged schools to invite local colleges in to discuss 
options with their pupils. Developing good routes into apprenticeships was key – and 
that was happening now with the offer of pre-apprenticeships. There was also a 
successful Council-led programme of supported apprenticeships for young people 
with learning difficulties. 
 
Dave McNamara noted that schools paid an apprenticeships levy and he was 
working with Mandy Lawson to develop an offer for children attending H&F schools 
with local employers. 
 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Marcus Ginn asked if officers felt the Troubled Families Programme was 
working well in the borough. Clare Chamberlain responded that H&F was one of the 
best performing boroughs in London – the key differential being how well we did on 
employment. 
 
Matt Jenkins, referring to the section of the report on safeguarding at football clubs, 
noted that press coverage had focused on national clubs and asked what safeguards 
were in place for smaller youth clubs. Steve Miley responded that the big clubs were 
taking this issue very seriously – they were undertaking an independent review of 
their practices and were in contact with the Council and the LSCB. The Council’s 
concerns were with smaller clubs – officers couldn’t meet with all of them and had to 
rely on the FA. Officers were however trying to raise the level of awareness of these 
issues across the entire sector. 
 
Nadia Taylor asked what sort of guidance and advice the Council provided to the 
clubs. Steve Miley replied that Chelsea FC had asked for advice on a review of all of 
their services and the Council had provided terms of reference for that. They had 
contracted our former LADO who was very well qualified to give them multi-agency 
advice. 
 
Vic Daniels noted that lower level clubs also took safeguarding very seriously and 
had for years. 
 
Councillor Sue Fennimore added that after stories of abuse broke in the national 
press the Council contacted the local clubs to remind them of their statutory duty to 
report safeguarding issues. The Council were working very closely with them to 
ensure the proper safeguards were now in place. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery said there was also work to be done, through schools 
and our commissioned services, to raise awareness for parents who send their 
children to these clubs. She also suggested looking at best practices in other 
boroughs and asked to see a proposal for improvements going forward. 
 
Nadia Taylor, referring to the Metropolitan Police Service - National child protection 
inspection section of the report, said she was concerned about the outcomes and 
asked how the Council was working with the police to address those issues. 
 
Clare Chamberlain said one of the key concerns was that there was no single lead 
officer for safeguarding - that was now established. Other concerns were a lack of 
training for the average officer which is also being addressed. She noted that locally 
the Council had good links with the police, and they gave child protection a high 
priority, but we were looking to address any gaps highlighted by the inspection. 
 

7. CABINET MEMBER'S UPDATE  
 
Councillor Sue Fennimore gave the following updates: 

 She visited Burlington Danes to discuss a more strategic approach to sports 
provision in the borough. 

 She met with the Family Assist team to see their holistic approach to people 
on the edge of care. 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 She attended the Youth Partnership launch event. 

 The ‘Show Racism the Red Card’ programme was up and running in five local 
schools and the Council would like to support another round of funding to roll 
this out to more schools shortly. 

 She highlighted the supported employment programme where nine young 
people with learning difficulties came to work at the Council in various 
departments. The programme had been very successful – with one young 
person being offered a full time job and an expansion with places being 
offered at local businesses. 

 
Nandini Ganesh thanked Councillor Fennimore for the supported employment 
programme - and asked if the places on offer were just for H&F residents or if they 
would start taking people from other boroughs. Councillor Fennimore responded that  
The Council wanted residents to benefit first but if there were more places they 
would explore taking people from other boroughs. 
 
A handout was circulated on the fair funding formula for schools. Councillor 
Fennimore noted she still had serious concerns about the impact the proposed 
reduction in funding would have on local schools. Dave McNamara noted that the 
current proposal meant a reduction of three percent in H&F. This was in addition to 
other pressures and would greatly impact schools – many of them already struggling 
to balance their budgets. Schools were worried that this would lead to a reduction in 
the number of teachers and affect standards. 
 
Matt Jenkins noted that the NUT had produced a website – schoolcuts.org.uk – that 
illustrated the reductions in funding by showing the loss of teachers on a school by 
school basis. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked what the Council could do to support 
headteachers and governors. Dave McNamara said the issue had been discussed in 
detail at Schools Forum and there will be a briefing session for headteachers to go 
through the impact in their schools. The Council will also be writing to the Secretary 
of State for Education along with many local schools to ask for protections for 
London schools. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery suggested writing to chairs of governors so they can 
discuss the issue at their next meeting. Ian Heggs said the Annual Governors 
Conference was next Saturday (11 February) and funding would be discussed. 
 
The Chair asked that local disability groups were briefed so they could comment on 
the consultation – with regards to the impact on the high needs block. She asked 
that an item on the consultation be added to the agenda for the next meeting. 
 

8. CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS REPORT 2015-16  
 
Thomas Gell and Justine May presented the report that provided information about 
complaints made between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016. The report highlighted 
how the department performed against statutory timescales and the improvements 
that have been made. 
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Thomas Gell noted that 7.9 of the report showed the improvement that had been 
made since Justine May carried out a review and a new permanent team was put in 
place in October. Justine added that timeliness was the key improvement – against 
statutory timescales performance had been raised to 100 percent. Going forward the 
focus would be on improvement quality - linking with other teams to talk about the 
learning that came from the complaints. 
 
Steve Miley noted that the number of complaints made up a very small proportion of 
the total number of cases dealt with each year – Family Services had around 1500 
open cases and over 3000 engagements involving children but there were only 51 
complaints in 2015-16. 
 
Nadia Taylor asked what happened if complainants weren’t satisfied with the 
outcome of Stage 3 of the complaints procedure. Thomas Gell said complainants 
had the option of going to the Local Government Ombudsman for review. Last year 
four cases were referred to the Ombudsman but only one was investigated and in 
that case the Ombudsman was satisfied with how it was handled. 
 
Nandini Ganesh asked if advocacy services were available to complainants. Clare 
Chamberlain said all Looked After Children had access to advocacy. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee noted the report. 
 

9. LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL REPORT  
 
Lauren Fernback and Helen Farrell presented the report that highlighted the 
responsibilities of the Looked After Children service, recent achievements, and 
developments for the future. Helen Farrell highlighted the steady decline in numbers 
of children and young people coming into care – attributed to the work of the Family 
Assist team. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath asked what was behind the increase in the number of 
children with three or more placements increased. Helen Farrell responded that they 
were largely late entrants into care with complex needs. To address this the service 
had developed a LAC Assist model based on Family Assist which involved additional 
interventions and extra support for them and their foster carers. 
 
Councillor De’Ath, noted the huge improvement in placement stability – 59.7% in 
2014-15 up to 78.2% in 2015-16 – in table 9 of the report and said it was a welcome 
change. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery said early intervention was key – but there was still a 
taboo around asking for help. She asked how this could be addresses going forward. 
Steve Miley said the development of the Integrated Family Support Service – with an 
early help service that was slightly disconnected from higher level social work should 
help. The service was looking to place early help practitioners into schools so 
parents got to know them and didn’t feel uncomfortable asking for some support. 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Philippa O’Driscoll asked what age the Virtual School support started from. Lauren 
Fernback said the Virtual School started for some children at three years old - 
supporting foster carers with nursery places. 
 
Councillor De’Ath asked if there was a dedicated careers advisor in the Virtual 
School. Lauren Fernback said there was a dedicated teacher as well as drop-in 
sessions and an EET worker. They also offered work experience placements 
through the local business partnership. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked for an update on the Action for Change 
programme – and a briefing on entries to care. 
 
RESOLVED 

1. That the Committee noted the report. 
2. Officers to provide briefing notes on Action for Change and entries into care. 

 
10. CHILDREN'S SERVICES BUDGET REPORT 2017  

 
Dave McNamara gave a presentation on the Children’s Services budget for 2017-18. 
He highlighted the following points: 

 Overall the department had a budget of £36m. 

 This year there would be savings of just under £2m. 

 The department had secured growth funding from corporate finance of £739k 
to address pressures in demand led services – including UASC, the Disabled 
Children’s Resource Centre, and the Travel Care and Support Service. 

 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked for more information on the foster carer case 
judgement and the impact on H&F. Dave McNamara responded that in R v London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets (2013) Mr Justice Males had taken the view that foster 
carers who were relatives of the children they cared for should be judged by the 
same criteria as any other foster carer and potentially receive the same payments. 
 
Nandini Ganesh asked why there was a sharp increase in the budget for the Travel 
Care and Support Service. Dave McNamara referred Nandini to the appendix that 
showed the budget position over the next four years – there was only growth in one 
year and that was related to getting a better service in place. 
 
Nandini Ganesh asked if the Disabled Children’s Resource Centre would contribute 
to savings overall. Clare Chamberlain thought there would be savings in the longer 
term as parents wouldn’t need as much overnight / respite care. 
 
Councillor Marcus Ginn asked if the current strategy – integrated services and 
demand management – would be enough to deliver the necessary savings through 
to 2020. Dave McNamara said it would but there were likely to be additional 
pressures in that timeframe. 
 
Councillor Ginn asked if demand management would lead to a risk of keeping 
children in unsuitable family environments. Clare Chamberlain said the Council 
would never leave a child in a dangerous home, regardless of the cost. Demand 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

management in this area meant more effective work with families through Focus on 
Practice. 
 
Councillor Ginn asked if spending had shifted to focus on preventative work. Steve 
Miley said it had – more investment was being put into the early stages which was 
better for children and families – and cheaper overall for the Council. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath asked if there was work that could be done with social 
workers to improve retention – reducing turnover of staff and improving outcomes. 
Clare Chamberlain said Focus on Practice was doing this and improvements had 
already been seen. 
 
Councillor Max Schmid paid tribute to Dave McNamara, Clare Chamberlain, and 
Steve Miley – noting that they had put forward some of the most creative and 
innovative proposals across the whole Council. The Chair also thanked those 
involved and said how good it was to see that the budget clearly had children's 
needs at its heart. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee considered the budget proposals and recommended approval at 
Cabinet and Full Council. 
 

11. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee requested the following changes to the work programme: 

 The Childcare Sufficiency report to be moved to February 2017. 

 Add an item on the possibility of introducing a workload kite mark for schools 
– a scheme was running in Nottingham and was being trialled in Ealing – 
aimed at reducing the workload of teachers and improving recruitment and 
retention. 

 Add an item on apprenticeships. 

 Add an item on the placement review. 

 Add an item on permanency, adoption and fostering in June. 
 

12. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The Committee noted that the next meeting would be held on 27 February 2017. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.55 pm 

Chair   

 
 
Contact officer David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 8



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 

POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

27 February 2017 

 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S UPDATE 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Children’s Services – Clare Chamberlain 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information  
Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Director: Clare Chamberlain - Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 
 

Report Author: 
Clare Chamberlain, Executive Director of 
Children’s Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3601 
clare.chamberlain@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report provides a brief overview of recent developments of relevance to 

the Children’s Services department for members of the Policy and 
Accountability Committee to consider. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. The Committee is asked to review and comment upon the contents of this 

report. 
 

3. EDUCATION 
 

School building developments 
 
3.1. Holy Cross and the former Peterborough School -The expansion of Holy 

Cross RC Primary School’s building to accommodate two forms of entry in 
accordance with the School Organisation Plan will be complete this summer. 
The additional classrooms required have been built and are occupied. Two as 
temporary dining facilities until the new hall is finished in May. The steel frame 
of the hall is complete, and the roof and wall blockwork nearly so. The 
contractor has been maximising school holiday working to undertake more 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:clare.chamberlain@lbhf.gov.uk


disruptive elements of the programme, and the RC Diocese has funded 
additional fire safety and boiler replacement works. 
 

3.2. The refurbishment of the former Peterborough site, which accommodates the 
two form entry Fulham Bilingual will reach the third and final planned stage 
this summer with a combination of internal and external works. Some of these, 
such as the redesigned building entrance, will significantly improve 
safeguarding arrangements, whilst others will refurbish ageing toilets and 
plumbing. Officers are currently discussing repair or replacement of the 
windows. 

 
3.3. 16-19 Academic Free School and the Bridge Refurbishment -The design team 

is now developing further, the design which emerged as the favourite from the 
consultation in December. It is anticipated that Planning Permission will be 
sought in the spring of this year and main contract work begin in the Autumn. 
The summer holiday period will be utilised to undertake pre-contract activity, 
likely to include some roofing and window repairs or replacements. 

 
3.4. The Free School, currently in temporary accommodation in the Greswell 

building, is planned to occupy its new build after the summer of 2018, whilst 
the refurbishment of the Bridge buildings should be complete towards the end 
of 2018. 

 
4. FAMILY SERVICES 
 
 Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and young people 
 
4.1 As part of Hammersmith and Fulham’s offer to look after 15 children and 

young people brought to the UK under the Dubs Amendment, 13 young 
people were accommodated between 27/10/2017 and 12/12/2017. These 
children were originally living at the Calais Jungle and as part of their journey 
to the UK some were moved to other regions of France prior to their arrival in 
the UK. They arrived in 3 separate cohorts. Hammersmith and Fulham had 
teams of social workers attend the Home office or Heathrow airport to meet 
and greet the children and then place them with foster carers. All the children 
now have allocated social workers. 

 
4.2 During communication with the home office the local authority was advised 

that Hammersmith and Fulham’s offer to take 15 was “over and above” any 
other LA and that the Home Office was “very grateful for the help offered by 
Hammersmith and Fulham on this matter”. 

 
4.3 In addition to these 13 young people, Children’s Services continues look after 

and work with an additional 19 UASC. 
 

Child Protection - Child Protection Numbers 
 

4.4 Child Protection numbers have remained consistent between 100 and 120 
since April 2016. A stable staff group and robust quality assurance and 
effective monitoring systems have been key to maintaining numbers at this 

Page 10



level. The introduction of the Strengthening Families model in Child Protection 
Conferences and more recently the transition to Signs of Safety has also been 
significant in maintain numbers.  

 
4.5 The Safeguarding Service has continued working with the Contact and 

Assessment Service to improve relationships and ensure that decisions to 
proceed to conference are based on a clear assessment of risk rather than 
driven by process.  

 
Signs of Safety 

 
4.6 Signs of Safety is a model for managing risk in Child Protection developed in 

Western Australia and is being implemented initially within Child Protection 
Conferences and subsequently as a core approach to work with families in 
Hammersmith & Fulham and across the shared services boroughs. 

 
4.7 A two day Signs of Safety course has been delivered to all managers and 

practitioners. The training provides a comprehensive introduction to the 
thinking and practice skills of the Signs of Safety approach to child protection 
work and enables staff to immediately begin to use it in practice with families, 
in Child Protection Conferences and elsewhere. 

 
4.8 A five day Signs of Safety course has been delivered to a smaller number of 

staff at across all levels of the organisation. Those who have participated in 
the 5 day course are designated Signs of Safety champions; providing support 
and guidance to staff and supporting the implementation of the model. 

 
4.9 A Child Protection Advisor has been appointed to lead on the implementation 

of the Signs of Safety model, which includes embedding changes, monitoring 
impact, raising awareness of the approach internally and externally and 
delivering training to partners. 

 
Changes to Case Conferences: moving from categories of harm to 
danger statements  
 

4.10 To support the objectives of Focus on Practice and move towards the 
implementation of the Signs of Safety model, we have made changes to the 
way we run our Child Protection Conferences. Traditionally we have held 
discussion in conferences about what kind of harm the child has suffered: 
physical, emotional, and sexual or neglect. These definitions come from the 
multi-agency document Working Together. While it is important that we clearly 
communicate with families about risk, we often find that these four definitions 
are difficult for families to make sense of because they don’t fit with real-life 
experiences. The professional discussion about which category the case fits 
into can also be divisive and distracting for the network. Instead of discussing 
categories of harm we are now using a technique drawn from Signs of Safety 
called danger statements.  

 
4.11 A danger statement is a simple narrative description of what the professional 

network are worried about, expressed in family language and referencing real-

Page 11



life examples of what has happened. The purpose of the danger statement is 
to try and reach an understanding with the family about what the risk to the 
child is, and what needs to change. This then forms a basis for agreeing 
safety goals that the family can realistically work towards to address the areas 
of concern. This change has been discussed and agreed with the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board, the Department for Education and the London 
LSCB and came into effect on 7 November 2016. We will be testing the 
approach to see what the impact is.  

 
4.12 The use of the four categories of abuse is not a statutory requirement. It is, 

however, data which is collected annually by the Department of Education. To 
satisfy DfE statistical returns the Child Protection Chair makes a decision 
about which category of harm the case falls into and records it on the system. 

 
Child Sexual Exploitation Lead Role  
 

4.13 Following the cessation of the Shared Services CSE Strategic Lead role in 
October 2016 a review was undertaken to establish whether there was an 
ongoing need for a local dedicated CSE Lead role or whether a Child 
Protection Advisor could manage this as additional role.  

 
4.14 The review identified that there continues to be the need for consistent and 

robust operational support which provides access to guidance, advice, and 
support to ensure that CSE processes are being appropriately followed and 
that children at risk of or experiencing CSE are safeguarded at the earliest 
opportunity. The review further identified that there remains a great deal of 
outward facing work required to maintain a strong CSE profile with partner 
agencies, voluntary and community services and the general public.  

 
4.15 The review concluded that the demands of CSE lead work could not be 

effectively managed as an additional responsibility for a Child Protection 
Advisor. In response a designated CSE Lead role has been created, which 
has a combined operational and strategic focus. We have successfully 
recruited to the position and the new member of staff will be joining the 
Safeguarding Service at the end of February 2017 on a one-year secondment. 

 
4.16 A local CSE strategy is currently being developed. Targets and outcomes will 

be reviewed and measured at 12 months. The review will focus on the efficacy 
of the role, whether it should continue and if so, in what capacity. 

 
Partners in practice 

 
4.17 As a Partner in Practice with the DfE, we are tasked over the next four years 

with building on the success of our Focus on Practice transformation 
programme in three key areas: 

 Development of the practice system 

 Sector improvement 

 Deregulation 
 
 

Page 12



Development of the practice system 
 
4.18 We will maintain and expand our clinical teams to ensure all teams have 

access to systemic family therapists/psychologists. We will also use predictive 
modelling to enable earlier identification of children and families who will need 
intensive services in the future. 

 
4.19 A new unit, the Centre for Social Work, has been set up to deliver systemic 

family therapy training at all levels and this will enable us to build a cadre of 
dual qualified expert staff who will lead practice across the authorities. Over 
the four years our training programme will expand to deliver years 2, 3 and 4 
of systemic family therapy training. There are currently 21 Hammersmith 
managers and practitioners undertaking the year 2 (intermediate) systemic 
training. 

 
Sector improvement 

 
4.20 The Centre for Social Work will also support improvement in the wider sector 

by making our accredited systemic training available in our first year to 
practitioners, managers, and leaders in three partner authorities: North 
Yorkshire, Slough, and Telford & Wrekin. A clinician from Hammersmith & 
Fulham has been appointed to one of the two part-time trainer roles within the 
Centre, which will commence delivery of training in May 2017. 

 
Deregulation 

 
4.21 We will continue to explore the system conditions which determine the culture 

and practice within our organisations. Our goals include eliminating 
unnecessary bureaucratic processes; making sure there is a proportionate 
balance between assessment and service provision; enabling practitioners to 
work intensively with families; and developing professional accountability for 
our work in a way that allows the frontline workforce to develop creativity and 
confidence in their interventions with families. 

 
Practice Leader Development Programme 

 
4.22 In addition to the plans outlined above, our three boroughs are delivery 

partners with the DoE for a national Practice Leader Development Programme 
for future leaders of services for vulnerable children and families. 80 senior 
managers from 60 local authorities have applied for the 20 places available on 
the first cohort to start in April 2017. 

 
4.23 Hammersmith and Fulham, Westminster and the Royal Borough of 

Kensington and Chelsea are preparing for the Centre for Social Work as part 
of the Partners in Practice initiative. The centre will commence activities in 
May 2017 and will focus on three areas: 

 providing programmes in systemic practice for our own staff doing 
years 1 and 2 

 working directly with three local authorities in helping them develop 
systemic practice (the LA’s this year are North Yorkshire, Telford and 

Page 13



Wrekin, and Slough Children’s Trust). Staff will attend year 1 
programmes and we will also work with their leadership teams. The aim 
is to provide placements for staff to learn from our work, to see how 
systemic practice works on the front line.  

 Provide a Practice Leader Development Programme for managers 
across the country who want to become an Assistant Director or 
Director. Recruitment for this work has started, with receipt of 
applications from over 80 middle managers from 60 different local 
authorities. 

Maximising Children’s Social Care Effectiveness 

4.24 On November 7th 2016 Cabinet approved the Smarter Budgeting Business 
case for ‘Maximising Children’s Social Care Effectiveness’ which is a 
programme of work bringing together efficiency projects and invest to save 
proposals to achieve a step change in how Children Social Care Services are 
delivered in Hammersmith & Fulham.  

4.25 The programme incorporates a number of complimentary projects across two 
broad themes, managing demand and increasing capacity and effectiveness. 

4.26 The demand management element of the programme is building upon the 
successful ‘Family Assist’ system of intensive interventions, and aims to divert 
a number of children from care reducing budget pressures. Alongside this a 
LAC Assist project will support Looked After Children to move to more 
appropriate lower cost placements. Following the Cabinet decision, work has 
been underway to recruit staff with the necessary skills and abilities to 
increase the existing capacity in the Family Assist services and introduce a 
new team working exclusively with Looked After Children (LAC Assist). The 
selection and assessment process has been rigorous, ensuring we attract 
high calibre individuals to work with our Families and Children. The 
recruitment has been successful with 6 Family Support workers offered roles 
and a new Team Manager for the LAC Assist Team. Candidates are expected 
to take up their posts over the next few weeks. 

4.27 To increase capacity, freeing up Social Workers to do more direct work with 
families, a pilot project using a new ‘Practice Assistant’ role has begun. Based 
in teams working alongside our existing staff, this additional support will 
provide a test bed for ideas to release Social Workers from non-value added 
activities, including deploying technology, to drive time savings and 
efficiencies. Response to our advertisement for Practice Assistants was 
overwhelming with nearly a 100 applicants, from this we’ve selected 6 
candidates who will start over the coming weeks. 

4.28 Once we have fully mobilised all of these initiatives, future reports to members 
will start to include the impact of the investment. This will include performance 
tracking, cost and savings impact and the experiences of our Social Work staff 
and Children & Families 

 
 

Page 14



 

5. COMMISSIONING 
 

The Placements Strategy 
 
5.1 Children’s Services Commissioning will be developing a placement strategy 

for the three boroughs, across looked after children and care leavers, which 
seeks to enhance practice, increase quality, and contribute to the savings 
agenda. 

 
5.2 Working collaboratively with teams from across the Directorate, colleagues in 

Commissioning are looking at strengthening processes and engagement with 
private and voluntary sector providers. The main aim is to build on the good 
practice that exists across the placement, fostering and social care teams, 
and to explore opportunities for innovation, where possible. The Strategy and 
associated action plan is aimed to be completed by April 2017. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
  None. 

Page 15



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 

POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

27 February 2017 

 

CHILD POVERTY STRATEGY 2016 - 2019 
 

Report of the Acting Cabinet Member for Children and Education – Councillor 
Sue Fennimore 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification:-For review and comment 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Rachael Wright- Turner (Director of Children's 
Commissioning) 
 

Report Author: Julia Woodman 
Strategy, Partnerships, and Workforce 
Development Officer  
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 753 6822 
E-mail: julia.woodman@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. In 2014 Hammersmith and Fulham Council made a commitment to develop a 

strategy to promote early intervention and reduce child poverty.  
 
1.2. The Child Poverty Strategy sets out the response to fulfil this commitment. It 

highlights the measures taken and those planned locally, to support families 
and their children facing difficult circumstances such as low income, poverty, 
housing, and high levels of need. 
 

1.3. The Strategy is structured around the four key blocks for tackling child poverty 
namely: housing, work and family income, health, the early years, and school, 
with linked indicators for monitoring impact. The strategy themes broadly sit 
across the Directorates of Housing and Regeneration, Children’s Services, 
and Public Health  
 

1.4. The Strategy was submitted to the Senior Leadership Team on 25th January 
2017. SLT noted that there was a clear opportunity to draw together the 
findings of the Child Poverty Strategy and the Poverty and Worklessness 
Commission report findings into a single implementation plan. The 
recommendation from SLT is that this is best progressed as a project within 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7

mailto:julia.woodman@lbhf.gov.uk


the Growth and Development portfolio of the Corporate change programme 
as it will need to be developed with input from all Council services 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. To review the Child Poverty Strategy (The Child Poverty Strategy is attached 

as Appendix 1)  
 
3. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1. An Equality Impact Assessment will need to accompany the future 

implementation plan. 
 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1. There are no immediate financial and resource implications. 
 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1. There are no immediate financial and resource implications. 
 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Child Poverty Strategy - 2016-2019 
 

Page 17



1 
 

Appendix 1  

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

Draft (v12) Febrauary 2017 

 

Delivering the change we need: 

Child Poverty Strategy for 2016 – 2019 

 

Contents                             Page 

 

Foreword: suggested joint foreword from the leader / lead member ......................................................................... 2 

Executive summary ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

1. Context of child poverty ................................................................................................................................... 5 

2. Measuring child poverty in Hammersmith and Fulham ........................................................................... 8 

3. Key issues arising from the child poverty needs assessment ................................................................ 12 

4. Responding to child poverty ......................................................................................................................... 14 

Area One: Housing and welfare reform .................................................................................................................. 14 

Area Two: Work, worklessness and family income ................................................................................................ 17 

Area Three: Health inequalities .............................................................................................................................. 23 

Area Four: Children’s services: early intervention, early help, childcare and schools ........................................... 26 

5. Measuring trends ................................................................................................................................................ 34 

 

 

  

Page 18



2 
 

Foreword:  
 

The implications for a child growing up in a family living in poverty are profound. In 21st century England there are 

millions of children living in families without the level of income considered necessary to get by. Many families are 

struggling with high housing costs, childcare can be unaffordable and there is a constant struggle to find a job that 

pays and is sustainable in the long term. There are approximately 10,000 children in our borough considered to be 

living in poverty and we have an important role in supporting them and their families to address both the causes 

and consequences of child poverty.  

A child in poverty has an increased risk of disadvantage in later life and this is not just an immediate problem for 

schools or children’s services to address. A child may struggle to thrive in a household with low disposable 

income. A child may struggle to learn without access to space at home to properly do their homework. A child in 

poverty is more likely to get ill, or become obese. Children brought up in poverty are more likely to struggle to 

achieve their full potential and carry the risk that the cycle will continue into the next generation. 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council made a commitment to develop a strategy to promote early intervention and 

reduce child poverty.  This document is our response to fulfil our commitment and a call for action.  

This strategy highlights the measures taken and those planned locally, to support families and their children facing 

difficult circumstances such as low income, poverty, housing, and high levels of need. We have talked to children, 

families and partners and assessed local needs. The findings of that assessment have informed next steps which 

are outlined below as a series of actions many of which we are already implementing.  

The borough and its partners are committed to supporting families. The economic downturn and the national 

programme of austerity presented significant challenges to families, as well as to the council and its partners. Our 

response has been to target support at the most vulnerable families and support them through times of change. 

This is supported by wider changes we are leading across the Council including: 

 The Smarter Budgeting programme where we are ensuring the different council departments are working 
together to meet eight outcomes that reflect what residents tell us matter most. This includes joint work 
to ensure all children and young people are given the best possible start in life. 

 The Poverty and Worklessness Commission report has drawn upon the perspectives of local people and 
professionals to identify what underlies continuing poverty and worklessness in the borough. Its reports 
makes ten recommendations for how we can deliver better outcomes for local people living in, or on the 
edge of, poverty and/or worklessness, and increase economic, employment and other opportunities for 
all. At the time of writing the Commission is developing a Poverty and Worklesness Strategy.  

 Mainstreaming Social Inclusion Policies and Practices through the establishment of a Cabinet Member 
with a portfolio focussed entirely on the delivery of social inclusion, and a Cabinet Member Board to 
ensure that social inclusion policy development is being integrated and delivered within and across all 
service areas, and activity monitored. The Social Inclusion Board includes officers from across the council 
and brings other partner agencies into its discussions, as appropriate for each themed debate. The work 
programme includes interventions to support young people not in education employment and training 
(NEETs) young carers, those experiencing family breakdown and children with language barriers upon 
entering school. 

Page 19



3 
 

This Child Poverty Strategy summarises our challenges and commits us further to actions that will improve the 

lives and life chances of children in poverty in Hammersmith and Fulham. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



4 
 

Housing Health 

Children's 
services and 

schools 

Work, jobs and 
income 

Executive summary  
 

This Child Poverty strategy highlights why child poverty is a priority locally. The Council commitment of 2014 has 

led to this strategy which has been produced with the cooperation of statutory partners and local residents, 

including children. The Health and Wellbeing Board has child poverty as a priority area for action. Local Public 

Health strategies seek to address the health prospects of those living in poverty with priorities to tackle child 

poverty. 

The purpose of this strategy is twofold: to reflect how the local authority and its partners have worked together to 

improve outcomes for vulnerable children and their families during the economic downturn; and set a strategic 

direction and inform future strategic and operational commissioning intentions. 

This strategy is organised against four key themes that impact on family poverty, consistent with the Joint 

Strategic Needs Analysis: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Within each of the above areas are actions for the council and its partners. These are presented in section 5, 

alongside indicators of progress against outcomes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



5 
 

 

1. Context of child poverty  

National context 

Poverty has always existed to some extent in England, from the Poor Laws of the late 1500s to large-scale 

development of workhouses in the 1800s. In modern times, successive national governments have attempted to 

address the causes and consequences of child poverty, with the first government commitment in 1999 to 

eradicate child poverty by 2020 (using a measure of relative income). Between 1999 and the recession (early 

2008) living standards in the UK increased and relative poverty decreased, albeit at a slower rate than was 

anticipated when the national target was set in 1999. Since the recession, the profile of poverty has changed and 

whilst the measure of relative poverty statistically means fewer families in poverty, disposable household income 

has dropped for many families.  

The Child Poverty Act 2010 provided a statutory framework for the government to tackle child poverty. However  

Clause 6 of the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 amends the government’s strategic approach to child poverty. 

The Welfare Reform and Work Act is made up of seven parts which includes child poverty and life chances.  The 

Act removes specific parts of the Child Poverty Act 2010, including four UK wide targets on, relative low income; 

combined low income and material deprivation; absolute low income; and persistent poverty. Under new duties 

the Secretary of State will be required to lay an annual report on child poverty before the Houses of Parliament. In 

addition, the Secretary of State is required to publish a report containing data on children living in workless 

households, long-term workless households in England, and the educational attainment of children (and 

disadvantaged children) in England at the end of Key Stage 4.  By focusing only on workless households, more 

than 60% of children in poverty will be missed as they live in working households. In addition, the 2016 Act 

reforms the Social Mobility and Child Poverty Commission and renames it the Social Mobility Commission.  The 

Commission will have a duty to promote social mobility in England and will provide an independent scrutiny and 

advocacy role on social mobility in England. It will also have a duty to report annually its view on progress in 

improving social mobility in the UK.  

 
At the time of writing the planned publication of the government’s life chances strategy has been subject to delay. 
 

Local context  

The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 has removed the Child Poverty Act duties on local government to prepare 

a joint child poverty strategy and publish an assessment of the needs of children living in poverty in their area.  

Despite the repeal of statutory duties, a local commitment to tackle child poverty remains. The ‘need’ of children 

living in poverty was assessed via the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment in 2014. Section four describes the 

findings of the local needs exercise.  

Prior to 2015 the borough’s response to child poverty had been via the Children’s Plan (2011-14). This plan 

identified several areas which should be prioritised, including child poverty. The borough was previously a child 

poverty innovation pilot with a focus on targeting and engaging parents and families. Whilst the Children’s Plan 

Page 22



6 
 

referred mainly to children’s services, this strategy takes information from all departments and our partners and 

proposes a series of actions for them all.  

Across the local authority, each department makes a contribution to mitigating against child poverty. This strategy 

summarises each department’s contribution against four key themes of housing, work, children’s services, and 

health. Table one below captures the themes, policy areas, immediate issues, and wider opportunities.   

Table one: Departmental contributions to addressing child poverty 

Theme 

 

Work stream Immediate issues Policy area / opportunities 

Housing  Affordable, family sized 
housing 

 Housing conditions in the 
private rented sector 

 Homelessness prevention  

 Alleviate impact of 
overcrowding  

 Cold homes 

 Affordable Housing Delivery 
Strategy 

 Strategic stock options 

 Private sector landlords charter 

 Sports and leisure strategies 

Work and 

money 

 Employability, work, and 
skills development 

 Family Friendly 
employment 

 Impact of welfare reform / 
Housing Benefit caps 

 Social isolation of families 
out of work and unable to 
afford necessities 

 Support young people into 
work 

 Parents access to skills 
development initiatives 

 Flexible, affordable 
childcare offer to support 
shift workers 

 Responding to roll-out of 
welfare reform: welfare 
and debt advice. 

 Work with employment 
agencies to ensure they 
offer tailored advice to 
parents including ‘better 
off’ calculation. 

 Foodbank provision 
 

 ‘A better place to do business’ 

 Work and skills development 
plan 

 Work Matters strategy 

 Apprenticeships and internships 

 Local Economic Partnership 

 Business impact review 

 Community Budgets 

 Planning gain (e.g. Section 106 
and Community Infrastructure 
Levy) 

 Facilitating schools to reflect 
adult education agenda in their 
income generation plans  

 Work with local employers to 
encourage family friendly 
employment 

 Social isolation and loneliness 
strategy  

Children’s 

Services 

and the 

role of 

schools 

 Integrated Family Support 

 School readiness 

 Family friendly policy on 
provision of flexible 
childcare 

 Social isolation of new 
young mums  

 Social isolation of children 
and young people with 
disabilities 

 Social isolation of young 

 Support for families 
affected by welfare reform 

 Review of childcare  

 Affordable childcare 

 Flexible childcare offer to 
support shift workers 

 Flexible affordable 
childcare to support shift 
workers 

 Viable offer for those at 
risk of isolation 

 Sustainable ‘Early Help’ offer 

 Building community resilience 

 Extended schools / wraparound 
childcare offer in schools across 
the borough 

 Family information service offer  

 Social Isolation and loneliness 
strategy  

 

Page 23



7 
 

Theme 

 

Work stream Immediate issues Policy area / opportunities 

carers 

 Social isolation of care 
leavers 

Health  Child Obesity and 
overweight 

 Healthy Start and Rose 
Vouchers 

 Healthy child programme 

 Oral health programme 

 Food Poverty  
 

 Ensuring policy and 
services are appropriately 
targeted at those most at 
risk of health and 
wellbeing issues. 

 Young carers are identified 
and their needs assessed 
and addressed 

 Tackling childhood obesity 
programme 

 Food poverty action 
statement and delivery 
plan 

 Partnerships with NHS 
providers and 
commissioners to ensure 
the wider determinants of 
health are considered as 
part of diagnoses 

 Joint Commissioning 
between Children’s 
Services and Public Health 

 School meals contract  

 School health services 

 Healthy schools 
programme 

 Maternity champions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



8 
 

2. Measuring child poverty in Hammersmith and Fulham   

What is poverty? 

Measuring child poverty is complicated and can be difficult to define. Whilst family income is the main factor 

determining whether a child is classified as living in poverty, this measure only considers the cause of poverty 

(income) but does not capture the experience and impact of living in poverty (i.e. life chances). The government 

consulted on alternative measures1 throughout 2013 but when its national child poverty strategy was published in 

April 20142 no changes were made to the way in which poverty is measured.  

The most common measures of poverty relate to relative ‘median’ income, where families below a certain line of 

income are regarded as being in poverty. A two parent family with two children is generally regarded as living in 

poverty if their income is less than £393 per week after their housing costs have been factored in.3 The true cost 

of housing, however, is significantly higher for residents in the borough, particularly in the private rented sector. 

 

Another way of looking at poverty is to consider what income a family needs to meet an agreed minimum 

acceptable standard of living, known as the “budget standards” approach. An annual research project funded by 

the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, estimates Minimum Income Standards (MIS) for different household types in 

the UK. After Housing costs, the relative low income (60% of the median income) threshold is estimated at £393 

per week for a couple with 2 children in 2015. The estimated minimum income standard (excluding childcare, 

council tax, water rates and rent) for the family is estimated at £431, 10% higher than the 60% median income 

level.  

 

‘Material deprivation’ is another measure of poverty and refers to the consequences of long-term poverty on 

families (rather than immediate financial strain as an income measure does). It recognises that such families are 

not able to afford certain possessions most of us take for granted, or are unable to replace worn out items. At the 

extreme, there are children living in families with ‘persistent’ poverty over a long time, lacking the ability to 

purchase key goods or services. A full explanation of the various measures of poverty can be found in the box 

below. 

 

Evidence has shown that two-thirds of those living below the poverty threshold at any one time have been in 

poverty for at least 3-4 years. Those in poverty for extended periods require more from services and agencies to 

move them out of this situation. During a recession, or other time when relative household income falls, fewer 

children are technically judged to be in poverty yet their disposable income has reduced at a time when cost of 

goods and services has increased. A purely income-driven measure ignores that London has the highest level of 

child material deprivation in the UK (32%, compared with a UK average of 25%). 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
1
 The government consulted on alternative measurement of poverty Measuring Child Poverty: A  consultation on better 

measures of child poverty, beginning in November 2012. 
2
 Government Child Poverty Strategy 2014  

3
 ONS 2016- Households below average income data 2014/15 

Page 25



9 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Measuring poverty: the difficulty of definition 

The main measure of child poverty is a ‘relative low income’ line, known as the ‘median’ which is the middle point 

in the income range. Households on incomes below 60% of the line are considered to be suffering hardship, but 

this is a proxy measure of poverty and is arbitrary. The threshold’s importance is that it does show how the 

poorest members of society are doing in relation to others and it can be tracked over time, and allows 

comparisons between different countries.4 

 
Within this median measure are two other important measures - before housing costs and after housing costs. 

Given the amount of family income required for housing costs in London the preferred measure locally is after 

housing costs. 

In 2014/15 the amount of money below which, after adjusting for size and composition of household and after 

housing costs, a family was characterised as poor according to the relative low income poverty line was as follows: 

 •291 per week (£15,132 per year) for a lone parent with two children aged 5 years and 14 years 

 •£393 per week (£20,436 per year) for couple with two children aged 5 years and 14 years. 

There are other common measures that describe varying degrees of poverty: 

-  Absolute low income line, if a household receives less than 60 per cent of average income, adjusted by 

inflation. This is a fixed line over a set time. 

-  Material deprivation: A child is considered to be in material deprivation if they live in a family which lacks 

the ability to purchase key goods or services. 

-  Severe poverty: A child is considered to be severe poverty if they are in material deprivation and have a 

household income below 50 per cent of median income (before housing costs).  

-  Persistent poverty: The proportion of children living in households where relative low income has 

occurred for at least three out of the last four years. 

Measured after housing costs, there were 3.9 million children living in “relative poverty” in 2014-15, up from 3.7 

million a year earlier. The number of people classed as living in “relative poverty” after housing costs increased to 

13.5 million in 2014-15 from 13.2 million a year earlier. It was the first increase, when housing costs were 

included, since 2011-12. Two-thirds of children in poverty are living in households where at least one adult is in 

work. 

                                                           
4
 Poverty and Social Exclusion research project funded by the Economic and Social Research Council. 

Page 26



10 
 

 

Nationally, Chart one (below) shows the trend of poverty since 1997, based on household income before after 

housing costs. Absolute poverty has fallen since the mid-90s, but since the mid-2000's, relative and absolute 

poverty rates have remained consistent. 

Chart 1: 

 

The graphic below describes some of the risk factors for families falling into poverty: 
 
 
 

Page 27



11 
 

How many children are living in poverty locally? 

Locally, 31% of children in Hammersmith and Fulham live in poverty.5 With a 2015 projected child population of 

33,809 this means around 10,500 children live in families in poverty.  Hammersmith and Fulham has seen a slight 

increase in child poverty between 2013-2015. Increases at ward level are more stark after housing costs are 

factored in. (areas shaded in the table below) Areas of high child poverty tend to coincide with areas of social 

housing across the borough, which also tend to be areas with the most children. However, increases in poverty in 

areas such as Addison, Fulham Reach, Munster, North End, and Town have higher rates of private rented 

properties (over 30%)   

 
Wormholt and White City has the highest rate of children living in poverty at 41% coupled with the highest 

concentration of children and young people.  

Percentage of children in poverty. 
 6 

Oct-Dec 2013 Oct – Dec 2015 

AFTER HOUSING 
COSTS 

AFTER HOUSING 
COSTS 

Hammersmith and Fulham 30.79% 31.04% 

Addison 25.21% 30.49% 

Askew 32.09% 31.66% 

Avonmore and Brook Green 30.90% 30.36% 

College Park and Old Oak 38.67% 39.21% 

Fulham Broadway 31.63% 31.74% 

Fulham Reach 28.73% 30.08% 

Hammersmith Broadway 35.90% 31.99% 

Munster 18.50% 21.38% 

North End 33.18% 36.13% 

Palace Riverside 11.53% 10.04% 

Parsons Green and Walham 18.31% 18.01% 

Ravenscourt Park 26.61% 24.53% 

Sands End 31.85% 36.09% 

Shepherd's Bush Green 36.89% 32.87% 

Town 24.44% 27.28% 

Wormholt and White City 42.26% 40.94% 

 

                                                           
5
 End Child Poverty Local Statistics (2016)  

Page 28



12 
 

Parents being “out of work” is no longer  the main reason for families “being in poverty.” Over the ten years to 

2012, the number people in in-work poverty in London increased by 440,000. That means 57% of adults and 

children in poverty are in working families.  

Lone parent families in Hammersmith & Fulham are particularly at risk of being in poverty, with 78% of children in 

poverty living in such families. This is higher than London averages (71%). The average family size of those in 

poverty locally mirrors London averages, with the majority of families having two or more children. Diagram 1 

overleaf shows age of the youngest child in households in poverty is also comparable with other London averages: 

there is a child aged four years of age or younger in 49% of local families in poverty compared with 51% in London 

overall.  

 

Diagram 1 – Families in Poverty in Hammersmith and Fulham -Age of youngest child and family size  

 

 

The JSNA  flagged that in the borough an additional 31% of children in poverty live in families where the youngest 

child is aged 5-10 years.  For parents of children who are in this age band, poverty is more likely to be related to 

their employability or access to viable employment opportunities rather than access to childcare.  

 

3. Key issues arising from the child poverty needs assessment 

The number, type, and ages of children in poverty informs the response from the council and its partners. During 

2014 the council and its partners conducted a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) which sits alongside this 

strategy to inform next steps. Consistent with the Child Poverty Act, the assessment (and the drafting of this 

strategy) was developed via the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Board. The assessment was based on consultation 

with children and young people and partners across the council and voluntary sector.  

 

 

Age of youngest child  

0 to 4 years

5 to 10

11 to 15

16 to 19

Family size 

one child

two children

three children

four children

Page 29



13 
 

The main recommendations from the Child Poverty JSNA were grouped into six themes: 

1 – support families to engage with services 

2 – promote parental employment 

3 – have access to quality, affordable early years childcare  

4 – to support the role of the school community  

5 – provide appropriate healthcare, at the right time 

6 – promote family wellbeing by addressing housing related needs. 

There were a number of other issues highlighted in the JSNA including the identification of those groups of 

children more likely to suffer from poverty and the implications for their wellbeing. 

The foundations for virtually every aspect of human development – physical, intellectual and emotional – are laid 

in early childhood. What happens during these early years (starting in the womb) has lifelong effects on many 

aspects of health and well-being, from obesity, heart disease and mental health, to educational achievement and 

economic status. Studies have found that children born into poverty are more likely to be born prematurely and of 

a low birth weight. They suffer a greater risk of death in the first year of life, but also in adulthood, facing more 

health problems in later life.  Children from disadvantaged backgrounds are also more likely to start primary 

school with poorer personal, social, and emotional development, and are more likely to develop behaviour 

disorders. These can affect their educational attainment, and cause difficulties in relationships and to mental 

health throughout their life.5  A report by Save the Children (2012), presents the findings of two large-scale 

surveys, one of parents and one of children. It found that poverty caused well over half of parents to cut back on 

food so their children didn’t go hungry; that children are going without warm coats in winter and new shoes when 

they need them.  It found children often don’t have a quiet space to do their homework or access to the resources 

they need to learn at home, such as the internet.  It also found that children in poor homes miss out on 

experiences that many would say are central to a happy childhood such as having a friend round for tea or going 

on a family holiday6  

Children in households affected by welfare reform and families with young children where the adult(s) is not 

currently in education, employment or training (NEET) were highlighted in the JSNA as being particularly 

vulnerable to poverty. The impact of mental health on a parent’s ability to gain and sustain employment was also 

highlighted. 

Whilst lack of income is widely accepted as a main cause of poverty the JSNA found that there are other factors 

and correlations that are important when considering both the causes and consequences of poverty.  

 

Lone parents 

The rate of lone parents with dependent children in the borough has increased since 2001 from 6.5% to 7.2% of 

households in 2011. The rate in London is 8.5%. In 2011, the wards with the highest number of lone parent 

households were Askew (6,234 households), Avonmore and Brook Green (5,719), and Sands End (5,626).  

Page 30



14 
 

 

Disability in the family 

If a child and/or an adult in a household is disabled, they are more likely to be living in poverty. This has been 

recognised by the borough. The Economic Regeneration, Housing and the Arts public and accountability 

committee considered disability in early 2015 and is currently considering ‘lifetime versus flexible’ tenancies for 

disabled people via the borough’s Housing strategy. 

Teenage parents 

Tackling teenage pregnancy is an important issue in the prevention of health inequalities, child poverty and social 

exclusion in the borough. Teenage pregnancy rates in Hammersmith and Fulham have almost halved since 2009 

and the latest figures (2014) show that there were 49 conceptions to women aged under 18. This represents 22.4 

conceptions per 1,000 females aged 15-17 below the inner London average of 23.1. In 2011, there were 32.8 

conceptions when the borough ranked the 8th highest in London. The highest conception rates were recorded in 

Wormholt and White City, Sands End and Askew wards (>40 per 1,000 females aged 15-17). This correlates with 

the levels of poverty in the borough.  

4. Responding to child poverty 
 
Our strategy on child poverty is organised around four key areas which were consistently highlighted by parents, 
young people and partners when the strategic assessment was carried out. These are:  
 
Area one: Concerns about housing, especially the affordability / cost of housing and the changes to housing 
benefit as a result of recent welfare reforms.  
 
Area two: Access to children’s services, especially flexible and affordable, quality childcare as well as access to 
services and use of school buildings outside of term time and for wraparound provision.  
 
Area three: Work, particularly finding and sustaining work that pays.  
 
Area four: Health, supporting health professionals to take appropriate account of the impact on health and 
wellbeing of families’ socio-economic issues and to ensure that the impact of parents’ health issues on their 
children’s ability to thrive is appropriately addressed. 
 
The remainder of this section describes current and future actions to address child poverty locally, with each area 
proposing a set of actions to be agreed and implemented by the council and its partners.  
 

Area One: Housing and welfare reform 
 
Housing overlaps with, and on occasion is core to, delivering change in other areas of the lives of children and 

their families.  For example families subject to the rolling programme of government welfare reform may see 

deductions made to their Housing Benefit, thus affecting their ability to pay the rent along with utility bills6 and 

                                                           
6
 Insert cost of living measures / utility bill increases in recent years. 

Page 31



15 
 

living costs. For a child living in a family in poverty, the challenges are not restricted to being able to afford the 

rent. Poor quality housing is characterised by poor energy efficiency: damp, condensation, and excess cold/heat 

which can all have an impact on health and lead to and exacerbate long term medical conditions. Children living in 

poor quality or overcrowded housing are more likely to have respiratory problems, be at risk of infections, and 

experience long-term ill health and disability. They are also more likely to experience mental health problems such 

as anxiety and depression. Poor housing conditions can affect development, educational attainment, and future 

life opportunities.  

  

Diagram 2 below shows the proportion of people living in poverty in privately rented accommodation (nationally) 

are predominately in the poorest fifth. The number of private renters in poverty has doubled over the last decade. 

There are now as many private renters in poverty as social renters. Rent accounts for at least a third of income for 

more than 70% of private renters in poverty. The private rented sector is characterised by the poor quality of 

stock.7 

 
Diagram 2 
 

 
 
In early 2015 the borough consulted widely on the future of housing in the borough. A consultation ran over three 

months and the main responses are summarised into three key areas: 

 

 Residents want more genuinely affordable housing. 

 Residents want more control over council housing and protecting it for the future. 

 Residents want to improve housing in the private sector. 
 

                                                           
7
 Monitoring poverty and social exclusion 2016 (MPSE)  

Page 32



16 
 

The Council wants more and better, well-managed affordable housing in mixed income, mixed tenure successful 

places. As a result of the consultation, the borough’s Housing strategy commits to putting families first. The 

strategy is built on the foundations laid nationally by The Lyons Housing Review “Mobilising Across the Nation to 

Build the Homes Our Children Need (Oct 2014)”. This review provided some in depth analysis of why the country 

has not built enough homes for people to live in and set out a ‘roadmap’ as to how the housing crisis could be 

addressed.  

 

Access to sustainable housing that is “affordable” and being able to pay the rent are concerns that affect low 

income families. In response, the borough’s Housing strategy aims to deliver more family-sized accommodation 

for social/affordable rent, to alleviate overcrowding and will have positive impacts on children. In 2014/15 the 

borough had already renegotiated property deals and secured 231 extra affordable homes in the borough; halted 

sales of council homes to overseas investors; and reduced rent and service charges for council tenants. The 

Council is on track to deliver through the planning system and through direct delivery over 600 new affordable 

homes across a variety of tenures and sizes. We are creating and affordable housing delivery framework to look at 

Council owned land, which can then be used for development of new affordable housing in partnership with 

housing associations. This could provide up to 800 new homes by 2020. 

 
The Council has appointed a Residents’ Commission to explore how council housing can be kept affordable and 

protected by securing affordable housing for the future by giving council tenants control over their homes. In 

addition, the “Decent Homes” outcome of the Smarter Budgeting programme has identified the need for 

coordinated council wide activity to support residents to buy and rent decent homes 

 

Homelessness and the fear of being without a home is a concern for many residents, especially young adults. 

Nationally the number of households accepted as homeless and the number of households in temporary 

accommodation have both increased for five years in a row. Evictions by landlords are near a ten‑year high. The 

local authority is committed to working with homeless charities, faith communities and homelessness prevention 

professionals to provide safe, warm accommodation for homeless individuals and families. We will act to help 

people in danger of homelessness and take action to ensure homeless children are provided with suitable homes 

and support. All our supported accommodation for homeless young people is delivered by specialist providers 

(Centrepoint and St Christopher’s) and all staff are DBS checked. Education and employment is an integral part of 

the support plan for each young person living including mentoring. The Council has been successful in bidding to 

the DCLG for funding for a mentoring scheme, working with Peabody. A revised homelessness prevention strategy 

was published in 2016, which sets out the Council’s approach to preventing families becoming homeless. In 2017, 

new prevention duties are expected to be placed on the Council which will lead to earlier prevention, and 

provides an opportunity for the Council to review its approach before this is implemented. 

 
Fuel poverty   
 
A household is said to be in fuel poverty when its members cannot afford to keep adequately warm at reasonable 

cost, given their income. 

 

Page 33



17 
 

The numbers of fuel poverty households in Hammersmith and Fulham in 2014 is estimated at 10,978, 13.6% of 

households. The 2016 Housing JSNA states ‘that fuel poverty numbers across the borough are comparable to the 

England mean rate of 10.4%, but somewhat higher than the average for London of 9.8%. Notably there has been 

stagnation in fuel poverty numbers across England between 2013 and 2014, whereas the figure for London has 

increased by 0.8% and risen faster in Hammersmith & Fulham (3.3%).’  

 

Public Health have invested in a ‘healthier homes; healthier people’ project in order to help residents whose 

health and wellbeing are compromised by poor housing conditions, particularly but not exclusively in the private 

rented sector. Particular emphasis is given to those living in ‘fuel’ poverty, with at risk households targeted with 

home visits to identify and address any housing issues that might compromise their health and wellbeing. These 

will include households with children aged under 5 years and others with long-term conditions such as asthma 

and cardiovascular disease. The provision of targeted home visits, across all housing tenures, will assess the need 

for measures within the home to prevent accidents, and to reduce fuel poverty, tackling excess cold, damp, and 

mould hazards. 

 
Overcrowding:  
 
The proportion of the borough’s households that have one fewer room than required was 27.6% compared with 

21.7% in London and 8.5% in England and Wales (Census 2011)  

 

Children living in poor or overcrowded housing are more likely to have respiratory problems, be at risk of 

infections, and experience long-term ill health and disability. They are also more likely to experience mental 

health problems such as anxiety and depression. Overcrowding can also affect nutrition and development, 

educational attainment, and future life opportunities8 

 
In recognition that addressing the lack of affordable family-sized accommodation will not be a ‘quick fix’ the 

council’s Housing department operates the ‘In Situ housing solutions’ initiative, part funded by Public Health. This 

seeks to alleviate the impact of overcrowding among families living in the borough’s own properties, offering 

packages of solutions tailored to the needs of the individual households. These might include the provision of 

advice and practical (including financial) assistance with furniture and storage solutions for the home as well as 

out of home solutions such as breakfast, homework and after-school clubs and family leisure passes. In the 

interests of ‘making every contact count’, staff delivering the service are able to identify effectively potential 

health and wellbeing issues within the household and offer the appropriate advice, support, and referral as 

necessary to ensure these are appropriately addressed.  

 

Area Two: Work, worklessness and family income 
 

                                                           
8
 Fair Society, Healthy Lives, The Marmot Review, Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in 

England Post 2010 

Page 34



18 
 

Figures from a London-wide study of child poverty show that there has been a significant shift in the demography 

of those “in poverty” over the last 10 years. Previously, poverty affected workless households whereas in recent 

years it is more likely to affect working households.9  

 

Locally there are almost 8000 children in out-of-work families receiving Child Tax Credit in the borough (December 

2013).  Nationally, two in three children in poverty live in households where at least one person works. Making 

work pay is a significant challenge and affordable, quality childcare is a significant barrier for many families (please 

refer to area four: children’s services below).  

 
Diagram 3 below shows the rise of children living in poverty where at least one parent works between 20013/14 
and 2014/15 
 
Diagram 3  
 

 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham has a relatively low unemployment rate. Census information (2011) found that 65.7% 
of the population aged 16-74 was in employment; this was the 6th highest rate in London and an increase of 3.5 
percentage points from 2001. 45.8% of those in employment were full-time jobs.   
 
At ward level Wormholt and White City and College Park and Old Oak have much lower levels of economically 
active residents (67.2% and 67.5% respectively). Town and Addison have significantly higher levels of economically 
active residents (78.9% and 78.4% respectively). 
 

National figures show that between 2007 and 2012, of those aged 18 to 59 who were in income poverty - but then 
entered employment - 70% moved out of poverty. The other 30% remained in poverty, even though they found 
employment.10 

 

                                                           
9
 London Child Poverty Profile 2012 

10
 ONS Poverty and Employment Transitions in the UK and EU, 2007-2012 

Page 35



19 
 

Chart 2: trends in Hammersmith and Fulham Out-of-work benefit claimant rate (DWP, Aug 2013)

 
 
Chart 2 above shows that the JSA claimant rate began to rise rapidly in the second half of 2008 and the UK 
officially entered recession in December 2008. Since the spring of 2010 there has been a downward trend in the 
JSA claimant rate in the Borough. Chart 3 below shows the JSA claimant rate by ward. Wormholt and White City 
and College Park and Old Oak are the highest in the borough and this is consistent with the incidence of child 
poverty. 
 
Chart 3: JSA claimant rates by ward (DWP July 2015)  
 

 
 
Overall, borough residents are more likely to work longer hours than the regional and national averages with a 
greater share in full-time employment: 81% compared with 74% in London and 71% in England and Wales. 2015 
figures showed a slight increase in full time employment rates in the borough to 82%, the sixth highest rate in 
London and higher than national rates of 74.3%.11 The Borough ranked the second highest in England and Wales in 
terms of proportion of female full-time workers to the overall workforce (36.4% of the total). 
 
Zero hours contracts 
 
Feedback from parents whilst conducting the strategic needs analysis showed concern over zero hours contracts. 

Zero hours contracts do not guarantee a minimum number of hours and therefore have an impact on job security. 

This type of employment creates uncertainty in households. Whilst local statistics are not available, nationally we 

                                                           
11 ONS [from Nomis on 12 July 2016] 

 

2.6 
4.1 

1.9 

4.3 

2.1 1.6 
2.6 

1.0 
1.7 

0.9 1.1 1.5 
2.4 

3.9 

2.0 

5.8 

0

2

4

6

8

Page 36



20 
 

know that people on zero hours contracts are disproportionately young, female and have been in their 

employment for under 12 months.12  

 

‘The jobs available do not appear to offer flexible working hours unless you are happy to take a zero hour contract 
position, to which there are no positives – only negatives’ (local resident, JSNA 2014)   

 
In terms of pay, for the lowest paid 25%, between 2008-2013 pay has fallen (by 70p per hour for men and 40p for 
women)13.  
 
What the borough is doing to promote work 
 
To promote local employment, the borough is prioritising business via the ‘better place to do business’ initiative. 

It is focusing particularly on stimulating inward investment and strategies for competitive growth, building 

business relations and providing a voice for businesses at local, regional and national levels. We will work with 

developers to sustain business growth and maximise employment and training benefits from developments and 

lever in funding and investment for business support activities. We are reviewing all council policies to encourage 

local jobs and training for residents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Our Work Matters strategy aims to meet more of borough-based employers’ workforce needs locally and tackle 
welfare benefits dependency and rising employment. The strategy will help residents to secure real jobs; take up 
pre-employment training or on-the-job training and skills development; and assist employers to recruit and train. 
 
The borough’s Community Development and Engagement Strategy responds to the wider responsibilities of local 

authorities and those dedicated to crime reduction, to support employability and pathways into employment. The 

borough’s key ambitions include a reduction in the JSA claimant count in deprived wards by 10%;14 promoting 

economic wellbeing through raising awareness of the wider health and social benefit of skills development and 

work; developing residents’ skills to enable them to gain qualifications and progress on to further education and 

job opportunities; and to make residents better equipped to compete for available jobs through the provision of 

employment and training support services. This take place within a wider context of impacts resulting from 

Universal Credit policy and the Benefit Cap. 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
12

 Office for National Statistics (ONS), February 2015 
13

 The Changing picture of poverty in the UK, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
14

 LBHF Adult Learning and Skills Service Community Development  and Engagement Strategy 2013-14 

The Work Zone is a dedicated service helping local people to secure local jobs. Based at Shepherds Bush 

Library at Westfield London, the Work Zone team helps jobseekers gain the right skills and qualifications 

needed and valued by employers, and offers jobseekers a clear advantage in their search for employment. The 

Work Zone also provides recruitment and training support to help employers fill vacancies and retain 

staff,.with a range of services to help businesses save time and money. 
 

Page 37



21 
 

Focus on White City 

The White City Estate has a high incidence of child poverty. Around 30% of residents are under the age of 18. Of 
the 2,000 dwellings, 1,400 are owned by the council. Within White City, there are low levels of educational 
attainment, with 32% of residents having no qualifications.  

We have based an adult learning centre in the heart of the estate, to reach the community directly. Council 
officers attend tenants’ meetings and local forum meetings to identify residents’ needs. Close work is undertaken 
with local partners, such as Canberra Centre for Health, Phoenix Federation, Queen’s Park Rangers Football club, 
Ark Swift Academy school, Randolph Beresford Early Years and Children’s Centre, Nubian Life Resource centre and 
Harmony Day Nursery.  

 
 
Apprenticeships and employment for young people 
 
We will continue to deliver additional opportunities for training, apprenticeships, and employment for young 

people. In 2015 we committed to getting 360 local people into industry-recognised pre-employment training, 

which will be delivered by third sector partners. The funding will be channelled into apprenticeships, skills, and 

training opportunities in the borough’s most disadvantaged communities, focusing on individuals, including 

looked-after children. 

 

While there are significant drives to enable more young people to enter employment, there may be a need to 

consider the degree to which these initiatives support parents. It should be noted that the 35+ age group is least 

likely to be in employment. Many in this age group are likely to be parents.  

 

The government’s new Apprenticeship Levy and provisions is intended to significantly increase the volumes of 

opportunity for all ages to take up of apprenticeships. 

 

Supported Internships provide a structured study programme, initially for 9 young people with Special Educational 

Needs and/or Disabilities with an Education, Health, and Care Plan (EHC). The majority of the learning takes place 

in the workplace (4 days a week) with support from Job Coaches (employed by Action on Disability) and is aligned 

to a complementary programme of study provided by West London College.  The young people undertake at least 

2, possibly three ‘rotations’ working in different departments, to ensure they get a carried work experience which 

informs where best they might secure and sustain paid employment. The Council are working closely with L’Oréal, 

who are in their second year of delivery on the Supported Internship Programme and hence the young people are 

gaining work experience across a public and private sector employer. 

 

Family Learning  

 

The Adult Skills Service offers a wide range of programmes which target pre-employability, employability and 

Health and Well-being. 50% of the courses run are accredited. Pre-employability courses aim to support people 

around worklessness and education, looking to improve their circumstances. In work courses help with career 

progression. Child Care courses to level 3 are very successful with over 90% of attendants finding work after 

course completion.  

Page 38



22 
 

Programmes include ESOL, fundamental skill programmes for English, maths, and ICT. In addition, the Skills for Life 

courses aims to support parents in understanding the school curriculum and to help with their child’s homework. 

The service works across local schools, children’s centres and three satellite centres in Macbeth Centre, Ark Swift 

Academy, and Normand Croft Community Centre.  

 

The service links with Job Centre Plus for on-line access to Universal Credit. In conjunction with the Work Matters 

Team and One Place debt and benefit advice is provided. There is a one-stop shop for information and guidance at 

145 King St, run with support from Housing Benefits, Work Zone, and One Space.  

 

A targeted Family Learning team offer a range of Family ESOL, Homework clubs, Parenting Courses, and Healthy 

Eating Clubs. The service works with around 4 schools and 4 children’s centres. Increasingly community venues 

are used to engage harder to reach groups. One day events are also run to engage a wider range of families. 

 

Debt, money and advice 
 
People in poverty are at least twice as likely to be in arrears than those not in poverty15.  Latest Trussell Trust 

figures show a 2% increase in foodbank use on the previous year (2014/15)  with 1,109,309 three-day emergency 

food supplies given to people in crisis in 2015/16. The top three reasons for using a foodbank are benefit delays, 

low income and benefit changes. In London a total of 110,364 people were given emergency supplies and 42, 503 

were children.  

Money management skills and access to debt advice are concerns of parents, both to avoid bad debt (payday 

loans and loan sharks) and to manage money effectively. The factors pushing parents towards debt (and bad debt) 

are numerous, such as a change in family circumstances, breakdown of a relationship or unemployment, to rising 

household costs such as food and utility bills. The borough currently signposts to organisations providing services 

via its website and face to face services. Given that many parents do not regularly use council services it is 

recommended that schools and children’s centres be notified of credit and debt advice agencies and consider 

inviting their ‘outreach’ teams into their schools if they believe this to be useful.  

 

The Money Course, run locally at St Paul’s (Hammersmith) helps parents build a personal or household budget in 
order to take better control of their financial situation. The course is designed to help people to: 
• Explore their attitudes to money 
• Look again at first principles 
• Get on top of their own finances, especially if struggling 
• Create their own budget 
• Learn to resist the pressures 
• Examine credit and debt 
• Take a fresh look at saving 
• Learn why giving matters 

 
The borough’s Trading Standards department enforces the law that sets standards for credit advertising offering 

unsecured loans to consumers and the agreements consumers sign. There are strict requirements that the lender 

must comply with.  Trading Standards can also help stop loan sharks. These lenders are unlicensed, operate 

                                                           
15

 London Poverty Profile 

Page 39



23 
 

illegally and will lend money when they think nobody else will.  Loan sharks charge extortionate rates of interest, 

with some using threats of violence to intimidate those who cannot pay the money back on time. They particularly 

target vulnerable people, including unemployed or lone parents. A loan may be offered, then recipients are 

encouraged to take a second loan to pay off the first, and so on until debts become out of control. Whilst the use 

of loan sharks did not feature in the findings of the needs assessment, it is clear that some parents fear the stigma 

of accessing some services. In other cases, it was found that parents were not aware that advice is available and 

where to access the advice. 

 

Families in need of help because of an emergency or a crisis may be entitled to a Local Support Payments from the 

council. In 2015/16 the Council spent £508,792 from the fund, supporting residents with items such as beds, cots, 

and vouchers for goods from shops. The borough will continue to fund the scheme in 2017/18.   

 

Area Three: Health inequalities  
 
Children living in income-deprived families tend to have worse health outcomes, both during childhood and later 

in life. They can experience health conditions caused and/or exacerbated by poor housing and a lack of access to 

health (and other) services due to living in temporary accommodation.   

There are strong correlations between poverty and health, such as obesity, poor school readiness at the age of 5 

years, poor emotional health and wellbeing and teenage pregnancy.  Health-related lifestyles during childhood 

have an impact in the long term as well as in the short term, and have a strong correlation with lifestyle choices 

across the life course.  Lifestyles associated with poor health are linked to poverty. Mental health problems tend 

to be more prevalent in poorer families.16 

For many families, their most intensive engagement with health is during pregnancy and very early years of a 

child’s life. NHS England’s responsibility for health visiting services transferred to the Council in October 2015. A 

Maternity Champions pilot scheme in Old Oak (in one of the most deprived wards in the borough), has been 

established to ensure children get the best start in life by enabling expectant parents to access maternity health 

care, early years, and early help services and to develop community peer support networks. The two year 

evaluation report demonstrates that the project has a positive impact on maternal health, through reducing 

isolation, and a positive impact on uptake of breastfeeding, immunisation and use of children's centres. From April 

2018 the maternity champions project will extend to all 6 community champions projects. 

Strategy on health 
 
Since April 2013 public health functions have been embedded into the working of the council, making connections 

with other services, developing key programmes tackling issues such as the rising rates of childhood obesity and 

providing seed funding across the councils to help deliver the improved public health outcomes from existing 

council provision, e.g. children’s services, residential environmental health services and employment support.  

Public health priorities directly related to this strategy include: 

                                                           
16

 DCLG: Listening to Troubled Families July 2012  

Page 40



24 
 

 Reducing the health inequalities associated with childhood poverty 

 Reducing childhood obesity (which has a high correlation with deprivation) 

 Reducing smoking rates (which have a high correlation with deprivation) 

 Improving sexual health by reducing the rates of sexually transmitted infections and unplanned teenage 

pregnancies (teenage pregnancy has a high correlation with deprivation and young parents’ households are 

disproportionately represented in child poverty statistics). 

 Reducing levels of substance misuse 

 Improving mental wellbeing  

 Improving preventative services, and 

 Overcoming barriers to employment 

Health inequalities associated with childhood poverty 

The health inequalities associated with childhood poverty require focus and a coordinated response across council 

services, and with our partners, to help give children the best start in life.  

Obesity 

There are strong links between poverty and obesity. Figures from the Obesity Health Alliance, released on World 

Obesity Day, (October 2016) show a looming significant weight gap between the poorest and wealthiest primary-

school aged boys living in England. Three in five (60%) of the most deprived boys aged 5-11 are predicted to be 

overweight or obese by 2020, compared to about one in six (16%) of boys in the most affluent group. Childhood 

obesity is associated with a wide range of health problems in childhood including respiratory illness, interrupted 

breathing during sleep and high blood pressure. However, we need to do more to support children and families to 

eat well, move more and maintain a healthy weight. We are investing additional funding into new services to 

establish healthy habits for life in the early years, and providing healthy weight services for school aged children 

and families. We are also working across departments and with our partners to identify how we can make 

changes to the physical environment to enable healthier choices. 

Smoking and health 

Smoking remains the single largest contributor to preventable illness and premature death. Reducing the number 

of smokers starts with children and ensuring they do not start to smoke. We will use the wider powers that we 

have as a council to stop the illegal sale of tobacco to children and the sale of illicit cigarettes and work more 

closely with schools and young peoples’ groups to support anti-smoking campaigns.  

Sexual health and teenage pregnancy 

There are strong correlations between teenage pregnancy and poverty. We will invest in prevention services to 

encourage and enable people in all age, ethnic, cultural, faith and socio-economic groups to be better informed 

and better skilled at practising safer sex and reducing teenage pregnancy rates. We will also support work in 

schools and other settings to help educate children and young people about healthy relationships and choices 

using the most effective interventions. 

Page 41



25 
 

Family Nurse Partnership  

This NHS programme supports young women in the borough under the age of 20 years who are pregnant. A 

Family Nurse visits those who need the service in their own home throughout their pregnancy and then maintain 

regular contact until the baby is two years old. The nurses work to ensure a healthy pregnancy and healthy baby 

building on the strengths of young parents. The Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) National Unit is embarking on a 

development programme in England – ‘FNP: Next Steps’. Local authorities now have discretion to widen the age 

range up to 24 years, enabling a narrower group of clients according to vulnerability to be targeted.  

Mental Health  

A study of 11-year-olds in 2012 revealed that in the worst-off fifth of families, 17% of children had severe mental 

health conditions compared with 4% of children in the richest fifth. 17 Around 5% of children in England aged 5–10 

have behaviour problems that lead to a diagnosis of ‘conduct disorder’ (around 30,000 children in each year 

group). Seventy per cent of conduct problems are found among children in the most deprived 40% of the 

population. 

The Children's Mental Health Taskforce report; Future in Mind (March 2015) set out a clear direction for local 

leadership across the system to work together to improve mental health services and outcomes. This includes: 

tackling stigma and improving attitudes to mental illness; introducing more access and waiting time standards for 

services and establishing ‘one-stop shop' support services in the community; improving access for children and 

young people who are particularly vulnerable and developing locally co-developed and owned transformational 

plans.  

The North West London Collaborative of Clinical Commissioning Groups published its CAMHS Transformation Plan, 

which was signed off by Health and Well-being Boards in October 2016.  Improvements to waiting times for 

Specialist and Targeted CAMHS services in Hammersmith and Fulham have been achieved, a new Child and 

Adolescent Eating Disorders service has been implemented, and Out of Hours CAMHS provision for Hammersmith 

and Fulham young people presenting to Emergency Departments has been increased.  Further work needs to be 

undertaken, and plans are in place for the re-design of pathways for young people with learning disabilities and 

autism to aid their transition to receiving support and services as young adults, and to further improve the quality 

and access to all CAMHS services in the borough.18      

 

 

 

 

                                                           
17

 Gutman, L., Joshi, H., Parsonage, M. and Schoon, I. (2015) Children of the new century: Mental health findings from the 
Millennium Cohort Study.  
18

 North West London Collaboration of Clinical Commissioning Groups ‘Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Transformation Plan,’ October 2015 

Page 42



26 
 

Area Four: Children’s services: early intervention, early help, childcare and schools 
 
Early intervention and early help 
 
There is a relatively small cohort of families in poverty experiencing a cycle of deprivation, passing from 
generation to generation. Growing up in poverty should not mean that a child becomes an adult living in poverty. 
In recent years, Children’s services and partners have been developing an Early Help offer to families, based on 
“early intervention” to give every child the best start in life.  
 
Recent changes to welfare and benefits have impacted on children in families locally and further reform from April 
2016, with the lowering of the benefits cap, will affect many families in the borough. We have sought to protect 
the most vulnerable children during these changes and will continue to do so. Local authority resources are 
increasingly dedicated to supporting families where children are in need and responding with services to support 
them. 
 

Early Intervention is investment in a range of well-tested programmes (low in cost, high in results) that can have a 
lasting impact on all children, especially the most vulnerable. If we intervene early enough, we can give children a 
vital social and emotional foundation which will help to keep them happy, healthy and achieving throughout their 
lives and, above all, equip them to raise children of their own, who will also enjoy higher levels of well-being. 

 
The borough’s Early Help Strategy, published in May 2015 carries an objective ‘to revise our service model of 
investment in universal services together with key partners in line with our priority outcomes’.19 Starting with 
early years (including children’s centres) the next steps are: 

 More rigorous targeting of children and families with additional needs; 

 Achieving this through greater integration of our collective services across agencies reducing duplication and 
inefficiencies; and 

 Improved joint commissioning. 
 
Family Information Service 
 
Following consideration of research undertaken by the Councillor-led Childcare Task Group, the Hammersmith 
and Fulham Children and Education Policy and Accountability Committee has agreed to deliver on three 
recommendations to improve the provision of accurate, accessible, and up-to-date information for parents 
regarding childcare and other associated early help services in the borough: 
 

1. Improve the functionality and accessibility of the Family Information Service website.  
2. To review the management of the Family Information Service within Children’s Services including options 

for sustainable and effective future staffing arrangements. 
3. To increase the involvement of the corporate communications team in the promotion of the new 

improved service once it was implemented. 
 
Children’s centres and Sure Start 
 
Building on the existing infrastructure and expertise in place to deliver the best possible offer for children and 

families, it is proposed to develop a single integrated family support service including children’s centres that 

                                                           
19

 Insert reference to EH Strat 

Page 43



27 
 

connects a range of delivery partners. This supports the administration’s manifesto commitment to continue to 

invest in universal services. 

The Integrated Family Support Service aims to redesign current children and families provision across universal to 
targeted (tiers 1,2,3) services as part of a whole system service strategy.  The programme will look at how savings 
can be made through efficiencies in management structures, integrating practice and workforce, reducing service 
duplication, and more efficient delivery models. 
 
The Integrated Family Support Service (IFSS) will deliver improved outcomes through the provision of high quality 

effective whole family early intervention, delivered in the community. Prevention and early intervention are built 

into the core of the model, along with the importance of working in partnership with families and local 

communities. The approach is collaborative, and based upon the belief that early help is best addressed by 

integrated practice and an integrated workforce amongst all those supporting families across the Borough 

We want to use our children’s centres as the place for parents to go to access information, advice and guidance. 

In the last year we have protected funding for our children’s centres, in spite of continued reductions of grants 

from central government. We will deliver against the priorities to maintain and improve our children’s centres, in 

particular the Sure Start centres. Sure Start was a government led initiative aimed at giving every child the best 

possible start in life, offering a broad range of services focusing on family health, early years care and education 

and general family wellbeing. They are designed for families with young children from conception to five years 

and are expected to target services at young children and families in the area who are at risk of poor outcomes. 

Funding from government for Sure Start centres was not protected by the coalition government and suffered cuts 

within the decrease in central government grant to the council.  

 
Childcare  
 

“Childcare is very expensive and simply not an option for many.  With both my partner and I working we could 
barely afford the cost of childcare for my only child.  I would ask my parents to help me when I really ran into 
difficulty but they are getting too old to help out.” (A parent’s view, JSNA, 2014) 

 
Childcare can be prohibitively expensive in London. Childcare costs are often a barrier to sustainable employment 

for many parents locally.20 There are also indications that parents are unaware of the range of potential childcare 

options and the benefits different models might offer to meet their circumstances.  

 

Tax-Free Childcare will be launched from early 2017. For every £8 a parent pays in, the government will pay in an 

extra £2. Parents can receive up to £2,000 per child, per year, towards their childcare costs, or £4,000 for disabled 

children. The scheme will be available for children up to the age of 12, or 17 for children with disabilities. To 

qualify, parents will have to be in work, and each expecting to earn at least £115 a week 

 

The two year old early education scheme offer allows eligible children to receive free early education from the 

funding period after their second birthday. This is part of a national offer from the Department for Education (DfE) 

                                                           
20

 Part-time employment in London, GLA Economics, January 2015. London and the South East are the most expensive 
regions when it comes to childcare costs. Figures from the Daycare Trust show that nursery costs for a child under two years 
of age in London are 28 per cent higher than the British average.  

Page 44



28 
 

and has been developed to improve outcomes for identified two year olds who would benefit from access to high 

quality early years and childcare provision. Early years and childcare providers also link with local children's centres 

where providers and families of children who attend early years education can get a range of family support. We 

have been developing the early education places for two year olds by building places and working with partners to 

make sure that parents know about the free 15 hours opportunities available to them. Over the last three terms in 

2016, 601 children have taken up a place in an early years setting. They are then able to move into the universal 

three and four year old fifteen hour, funded places. 

 

From September 2017, three- and four-year-olds in England will be entitled to 30 free hours of care per week in 

term time - up from the current 15 hours. 

 

 We are committed to review how we can bring down the cost of childcare for all families (not just those meeting 

the two year old criteria) and also increase the availability of high quality child care. A task group was set up in 

2014 and has reported earlier in 2015. It identified six areas for further consideration: 

 

 The importance of accurate information for local families; 

 Improving support for childminders and the effectiveness of the offer of childminding services for local 

families; 

 The role of Children’s Centres in delivering effective, high quality childcare; 

 Building on the findings of an out of core hours pilot for support in schools; and  

 Innovative solutions for growing a skilled workforce 

The Children and Education Policy and Accountability Committee has recommended that the local authority work 

with local schools to implement an expanded childcare offer across the borough. This is based on a pan London 

pilot study testing the feasibility of an extended and more flexible early education offer in school nurseries. It is 

envisaged that this will provide additional local placements for two, three and four year olds between the hours of 

8:00 and 18:00.  Many local head teachers have welcomed the proposals and work to implement this expanded 

offer is taking place during the 2015/16 municipal year 

Schools, education and play  
 
Education is a route out of poverty and over five years to 2012, the proportion of Inner London 16 year-olds 
entitled to free school meals (FSM) who failed to get five 'good' GCSEs reduced by 20 percentage points which is a 
remarkable achievement of schools and children. Locally, from 2015 data, 44% of children entitled to FSM in 
Hammersmith & Fulham achieved 5 or more GCSEs at grade A*-C including English and maths, compared with 
33% nationally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



29 
 

 Pupils known to be 
eligible for free school 

meals 

All other pupils All pupils 

 Percentage achieving 5+ 
A*-C grades inc. English 
& mathematics GCSEs 

Percentage achieving 5+ 
A*-C grades inc. English 
& mathematics GCSEs 

Percentage achieving 5+ 
A*-C grades inc. English 
& mathematics GCSEs 

England 33.3 61.2 57.3 

Inner London 49.8 64.1 59.7 

Hammersmith  44.3 68.6 62.6 

 
 
Pupil Premium 
 
The role of the local authority in education has changed significantly in recent years. There was a time when the 

authority “managed” all state schools, holding budgets and appointing staff. Schools are now largely self-

governing; all manage their own budgets and may only come into contact with the council when they choose to 

make use of our services. The local authority now has more of a strategic role, such as in place planning and 

admission. The education system locally is now a myriad of academy, free, faith and community schools and the 

government’s main vehicle to funding disadvantaged pupils is via the Pupil Premium. This fund goes directly from 

government to schools, for them to use as required and the local authority has little influence over its use. Ofsted 

do consider how the Pupil Premium is used when they inspect schools and will recommend that a school 

commissions a pupil premium review if they identify issues with the school’s provision for disadvantaged pupils. 

The local authority can also request a review.  

 

Pupil Premium  
The pupil premium is additional funding to raise the attainment of disadvantaged pupils and close the gap 
between them and their peers. Schools receive additional funding for each child registered as eligible for free 
school meals at any point in the last 6 years: £1,320 for pupils in reception year to year 6 and £935 for pupils in 
year 7 to year 11. From July 2014 Ofsted have reported on the attainment and progress of disadvantaged pupils 
who attract the pupil premium when they inspect schools. In addition, schools must publish details of how they 
spend pupil premium and the effect this has had on the attainment of pupils. 

 
In September 2013 the council commissioned a task group on the Pupil Premium. It took evidence from a wide 

range of expert witnesses during the inquiry and received written and oral evidence from Head teachers and 

school governors in the borough in addition to views from children and young people. The inquiry found that the 

use of the Pupil Premium in Hammersmith and Fulham varies widely, with a broad mixture of academic and non-

academic actions funded. The inquiry report contained five recommendations. This strategy recommends that a 

review be undertaken of progress made with the task group inquiry findings and also for an assessment of school 

inspection findings to take place, to gauge the impact of the Pupil Premium locally. 

 
School buildings and libraries 
 
In the Housing section of this strategy overcrowding is covered in detail. In this section (above) the changing role 

of the local authority was explained and this extends to the council’s influence over use of school buildings. The 

Page 46



30 
 

potential for school buildings to be used more widely by the community was highlighted in the child poverty JSNA 

and young people say they would like spaces to do their homework, often because their home is overcrowded.  

 

The council commissions both pre and after school activities for children and in May 2014 the Administration 

made a commitment “to encourage all schools to develop strong links and share resources with the local 

community.” In response to this issue, in June 2015, a schools community use audit was carried out. This audit 

reviewed how well school buildings are used by the local community and sought ways of extending their use 

where possible. This strategy recommends that the findings of the audit be used to further the potential of school 

buildings, particularly to alleviate the difficulties caused by overcrowding. 

 

The Administration also made a commitment “to ensure all children are able to access books and spaces to learn”. 

It is recommended that a pilot scheme be implemented to automatically enrol all reception year children as 

members of the library. Building on the pilot, we will implement across the borough if possible and will also work 

to ensure all school-age children in the borough have a library card. 

 

In a borough like ours access to a local safe play areas to play, away from traffic and pollution, can be difficult to 

find. Private leisure facilities and opportunities can be expensive for families living in poverty. In the Housing 

section of this strategy it is noted that some families are overcrowded and children told us (via the JSNA) how 

overcrowding impacts on their ability to play inside and do their homework. The Health section explained how a 

child in poverty is more likely to get ill or become obese. This strategy recommends that the borough secures 

funding to support communities in local streets to facilitate temporary closures, to become play streets. 

 
Not in Education, Employment or Training 
 
Young people aged 16 to 18 who are not in education, employment or training are termed NEET. In 2012 the NEET 

rate for Hammersmith and Fulham was 3.9%. By June 2016 the NEET rate had been reduced to 2.3%.  This 

represented a year on year reduction on NEET compared with June the previous year (2.7%). The NEET rate in 

Hammersmith and Fulham is below the London and national averages (3.4% and 4.5% respectively).  

The overall NEET rate conceals some important differences. The likelihood of being NEET increases with age. 

Young people aged 16 are least likely to be NEET (0.9%) doubling at age 17 (1.9%) and doubling again at age 18 

(4%). Young people who have a range of characteristics are also more likely to be NEET or become NEET. Young 

people leaving local authority care are disproportionately NEET. As at September 2016, 8% of Care leavers 16-17 

years were NEET and this rises to 29% in the 18 -25 years cohort.  In addition, young men are more likely to be 

NEET than young women.  

 

From September 2016 Local Authorities will no longer be required to report figures on the education, training or 

employment destinations of 18+ years. The publication of figures will be limited to 16-17 year olds. This will align 

the NEET statistics with the publication of participation statistics for Raising Participation Age (RPA). There are 

programmes targeting this older age group funded by the European Social Fund on a West London basis however 

there is uncertainty around their future continuance as a consequence of Brexit. Programmes currently running 

are aimed at 18 – 24 year olds are: removing barriers to entering and sustaining work that young people from 

BAME communities are affected by more than other groups and work with NEET young people who experience 

Page 47



31 
 

mental health conditions, drug or alcohol abuse problems or homelessness, improving education, employability, 

and personal skills.  

 
 

  England  London Hammersmith 
and Fulham 

Academic Age 16 -18 (year 12-14) June 2016 4.5% 3.4% 2.3% 

 
The DfE Key Stage 4 destination measures report that young people from disadvantaged backgrounds are less 
likely to progress to a sustained EET destination after completing statutory schooling, 89% compared with 96%.  
 
The highest number of NEET young people are recorded in College Park and Old Oak, North End, Wormholt and 

White City and Sands End wards. The rate of NEETs is consistent with the incidence of poverty outlined in section 

2, which highlights the potential ‘generational’ risk of poverty amongst families where there is a young person not 

in employment, education or training.   

 
 
NEET volumes by ward at July 201621  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
21

 Source: CCIS Management Information, July 2016 

Page 48



32 
 

Troubled Families  
 

Troubled Families is a government programme aimed at those that have problems and cause problems to the 

community around them, putting high costs on the public sector. We have participated in the programme locally. 

Under the first phase of the programme, a “troubled” family was one characterised by there being no adult in the 

family working, children not being in school and family members being involved in crime and anti-social 

behaviour. 

Being poor does not mean a family is “troubled” but those identified for the troubled families programme are 

likely to be claiming benefits and suffering from, or at risk of, being in poverty. 

 
The first phase of the Troubled Families programme “turned around” all 540 families who qualified for the 

programme. The borough is now engaged with Phase two of the programme which will continue until 2020. As 

well as focusing on adults out of work or at risk of financial exclusion and young people at risk of worklessness, 

Phase 2 is working with particular families to improve outcomes relating to: 

1. Parents and children involved in crime or anti-social behaviour.  

2. Children who have not been attending school regularly.  

3. Children who need help.  

5. Families affected by domestic violence and abuse.  

6. Parents and children with a range of health problems.  

Commissioned services: 
 
The borough commissions a number of services that contribute to alleviating child poverty. In the year ahead we 
will: 
 

 implement a new model for delivering more integrated family support services. The Integrated Family 
Support Service (IFSS) seeks to bring together a range of children’s services. It will  provide support to 
those families who need additional help through Universal Plus and Targeted services. Specifically, it will 
deliver against the priorities to: 

 
o Maintain and improve our children’s centres, in particular the Sure Start centres 
o Facilitate more activity for young people after school and during the holidays, focusing particularly 

on the areas of highest child poverty 

o Make sure that the area's most vulnerable children are well looked after and safe 

 

 strengthen the relationship with the 3rd Sector, working in closer partnership around a shared objective 
of promoting social inclusion and improving the lives of residents. Providing the best start for young 

Page 49



33 
 

people is one of seven priority funding streams identified. 16 organisations will be supported in 2017/18 
with over £500,000 in funding to help achieve this. 
 

 help to enable the manifesto commitments of the Youth Council derived from the ‘Make your Mark’ 
survey results. A living wage received the highest number of votes in the 2015. ‘Ending austerity and Child 
Poverty also featured in top three issues identified by school pupils.  In 2016 ‘a curriculum to prepare us 
for life’  was in the top three of priorities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 50



34 
 

5.  Measuring trends  

Housing  

Indicator  Nationally / Locally 
reported 

Trends 
 

Local 
reporting 

lead 

Reporting 
frequency 

1. Fuel Poverty for high cost fuel households  National – Marmot 
Inequality Indicator 

13.6 
2014 

Milan 
Ognjenovic  

Annually 

2. Family homelessness (per 1000) National - Local 
Health Profile 

4.3 
2014/15 

Penny 
Richards 

Annually 

3. The number of households in temporary 
accommodation per 1,000 households, (<5 
years + 5 -16 years in family) 

National  14.4 
2015/16 

Penny 
Richards 

Annually 

 

 Work, worklessness and family income 

Indicator  Nationally / Locally 
reported 

Trends 
 

Local 
reporting 

lead 

Reporting frequency 

4. Long term claimants of JSA National – Marmot 
Inequality Indicator 

6.9 
2015 

Milan 
Ognjenovic 

Annually 

5. Proportion of Children living in workless 
households  

National - ONS 
9.9% 
2015 

Milan 
Ognjenovic 

Annually 

6. Children in low income families (under 16 
years)  (WTC & CTC or Universal Credit) 

National - DWP 23.8% 
2013/14 

Milan 
Ognjenovic 

Annually 

7. Numbers 19- 24 yr old NEETS 
 

  

National – Marmot 
Inequality  

 
DfE 

 

2.3% 
2015 

Tim Eyers 

Annually 

8. % of Young People going to a sustained 
education and /or employment / training 

Local   
 Tim Eyers 

Annually 

P
age 51



35 
 

destination  
i.) Overall cohort  
ii.) Disadvantaged pupils   

i.) 93% 
ii.) 89% 
2014/15 

9

3

% 

9. Numbers of food parcels received by 
children (<16yrs)  

Local 1433 
2015-16 

Daphine 
Aitkens 

Annually 

10. Youth unemployment (JSA) (claimants 18-
24 yrs)  

National - DWP 2.7% 
March 
2016 

Milan 
Ognjenovic 

Monthly 

 

Health  

Indicator  Nationally / Locally 
reported 

Trends 
 

Local 
reporting 

lead 
 

Reporting 
frequency 

11. Childhood excess weight (10-11 year olds)  National - Local 
Health Profile 

38.9% 
2014/15 

Milan 
Ognjenovic  

Annually 

12. Under 18 conceptions (per 1000)  National - Local 
Health Profile 

22.4 
2014 

Milan 
Ognjenovic  

Annually 

13. Number of young people smoking at age 15   National -PHOF 
(WAY survey)  

4.6% 
2014/15 

 

Christine 
Mead 

Annually 

14. CAMHS access, waiting times and outcomes 
i.) % of young people assessed 

within 4 weeks of referral  
ii.) % of young people treated 

within 4 weeks of assessment  
iii.)        % of CYPP with outcomes 

improvement from IYAPT 

Local – WLMHT 
Performance 

measures (new 
indicators will be 

finalised early 2017) 
 

Angela 
Caulder  

Annually 

15. Smoking in pregnancy (at time of delivery) Local Health Profile  2.5% Milan Annually 

P
age 52



36 
 

2015/16 Ognjenovic 

16. Alcohol-specific hospital stays (under 18s) Local Health Profile  15 
2012/13
-14/15 

Milan 
Ognjenovic 

Annually 

 

Priority: Early Help, Childcare, Schools  

Indicator  Nationally / Locally 
reported 

Trends  
 

 

Local 
reporting 

Lead 

Reporting frequency 

17. Proportion of children achieving a good 
level of development at age 5 years 

i.) Overall cohort  
ii.) FSM 

National - DfE 

 
 i.) 69% 
ii.) 61% 

2016 

 

 
Rosemary 

Sallis 
 

Annually  

18. Proportion of children achieving level 4 
in, reading, writing and maths at the 
end of key stage 2 

i) Overall cohort 
ii)  FSM  

National – DfE  

 
i.) 83% 
ii.) 78% 

2015 

Janine 
Anderson 

Annually  

19. GCSE’s (A*- C inc. English & Maths) 
achieved  

i) Overall cohort 
ii)  FSM  

National –DfE 

 
i.) 62.6 % 

 ii.) 44.3% 
2014/15  

 

Janine 
Anderson  

Annually  

20. Percentage of 19 year olds qualified to 
Level 3 

i.) Overall cohort 
ii.) FSM (at age 15)  

National – DfE  

i.) 64.8% % 
 ii.) 51.3% 

2015  

 

 
Janine 

Anderson 
Annually  

 

 

P
age 53



37 
 

 

 

Monitoring overall inequality trends  

Indicator  Nationally / Locally 
reported 

Trends  
 

Local 
reporting 

lead 

Reporting frequency 

21. The income deprivation affecting 
children index (IDACI) 2015 

National - DCLG  
24.4 

 

Milan 
Ognjenovic Every 3-4 years  

22. Life expectancy at birth  
i) Males 
ii.) Females  

National – ONS, 
Local Health Profile 

i.)79.7 
years 

ii.) 84.1 
years 

2012-14 

 

Milan 
Ognjenovic 

Annually 

23. Inequality in life expectancy  
i.) Males 
ii.) Females 

National - Marmot 
indicator  

i.)9.2 
years 
ii.)3.9 
years 
2011-13 

Milan 
Ognjenovic 

Annually 

P
age 54



38 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 55



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 

POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

27 February 2017  
 

 

SCHOOL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2016 
 

Report of the Acting Cabinet Member - Councillor Sue Fennimore 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director:  
Executive Director of Children’s Services, Clare Chamberlain 
 

Report Authors 
Ian Heggs, Director of Education 
Richard Stanley, Deputy Director of Education  
 

Contact Details: 
ian.heggs@lbhf.gov.uk 
richard.stanley@rbkc.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This is the annual school performance report to inform Members of the 

Children and Education Policy and Accountability Committee of the outcomes 
of the Summer 2016 assessments and examinations in the London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham primary and secondary schools, and the current 
position with regard to Ofsted school inspections. The report provides an 
overview of the outcomes and how they compare with the national picture; all 
data is final. The priorities for school improvement in the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham that inform the work of officers in the Tri-borough 
Education Service are also highlighted. The published results for individual 
primary and secondary schools will be made available to the Committee 
separately.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That members of the Policy and Accountability Committee review and 

comment on the school performance details in the report and the school 
improvement priorities identified. 

 
2.2 That members make particular note of the main performance headlines: 

Page 56

Agenda Item 8

mailto:ian.heggs@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:richard.stanley@rbkc.gov.uk


o Overall performance at all Key Stages in schools in Hammersmith and 
Fulham continues to be above national averages; 

o In primary schools, at Key Stage 1 and 2, the percentage of pupils 
reaching the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics was 
above the national average in all three subjects; 

o In secondary schools, the percentage of students achieving Grades C or 
above in English and mathematics increased from 64% in 2015 to 70% in 
2016, which was above the national average, and Hammersmith and 
Fulham was ranked top in Inner London for performance in the English 
Baccalaureate;  

o The gap in outcomes for children in receipt of the pupil premium remained 
smaller than the national gap at Key Stage 2; 

o The performance of children with SEN continues to be above the national 
averages; 

o The proportion of schools judged to be good or outstanding is above the 
published national average. 

 
3. PRIMARY SCHOOL OUTCOMES  
 
Foundation Stage (reception) 
 
3.1 The percentage of the Reception cohort with a good level of development was 

71% in Hammersmith and Fulham in 2016, up from 69% in 2015, and 
compared with 69% nationally in 2016.  

 
Reforms to Primary Assessment 

 
3.2 In 2014, the primary curriculum was fundamentally reformed; expectations 

were raised, and the 2016 assessments are the first which assess the new, 
more challenging, curriculum. Key Stage levels have been replaced by 
performance categories for Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 teacher 
assessments (which allow analysis of those working at the expected standard 
and those working at greater depth), and by scaled scores in KS2 tests 
(scores are standardised to a national average of 100, based on marks 
awarded). Therefore, the DfE (interim national curriculum assessments at Key 
Stage 2, 2016) have advised that comparisons should not be made with 
previous years. 

 
Key Stage 1 (end of year two – 7 year olds) 

 
3.3 The percentages of pupils working as expected at Key Stage 1 were above 

the national averages in reading (78%, compared with 74%), in writing (70%, 
compared with 65%) and in mathematics (77%, compared with 73%). 
 

3.4 The percentages of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 1 were also 
above the national averages in reading (32%, compared with 24%), in 
writing (18%, compared with 13%) and in mathematics (26%, compared 
with 18%). 

Page 57



Key Stage 1 
Teacher assessments 

 

 LBHF NATIONAL 

 reading writing maths reading writing maths 

 

Working as 

expected 

 

78% 70% 77% 74% 65% 73% 

 

Working at 

greater depth 

 

32% 18% 26% 24% 13% 18% 

 

 
 
Key Stage 2 (end of primary school – 11 year olds) 

 
3.5 The percentages of pupils working as expected at Key Stage 2 were above 

the national averages in reading, writing and mathematics overall 
(61%, compared with 53%), in reading (74%, compared with 66%), in 
writing (78%, compared with 74%) and in mathematics (79%, 

compared with 70%). The borough was ranked 14th in the country for the 
key overall indicator. 

 
3.6 The percentage of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 2 was 

also above the national averages in reading (24%, compared with 19%), 
in writing (18%, compared with 15%) and in mathematics (19%, 
compared with 17%).    

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Reading Writing Maths Reading Writing Maths

P
u
p
il
s
 a

c
h
ie

v
in

g
 a

s 
e
x
p
e
ct

e
d
 a

n
d
 a

b
o
v
e

Key Stage 1 - 2016

Hammersmith and Fulham and the national average  

Hammersmith and Fulham National

Working as expected Working at greater depth

Page 58



3.7 In tests, scaled scores were above the national averages in reading (104, 
compared with 103) and in mathematics (105 compared with 103).  

 
3.8 Progress scores were also considerably above the national average, 

standardised to zero, in reading (2.2), in writing (1.4) and in mathematics 
(1.8). 

Key Stage 2 

Tests (reading and mathematics) and teacher assessments 
(writing) 

   

  LBHF  NATIONAL 

 reading writing maths RWM reading writing maths RWM 

 

Working as 

expected 

(Tests and 

TAs) 

74% 78% 79% 61% 66% 74% 70% 53% 

Working at 

greater 

depth 

(TAs only) 

24% 18% 19% 8% 19% 15% 17% 5% 

Scaled 

Score  

(Test only) 

104 - 105 - 103 - 103 - 

Progress 2.2 1.4 1.8 - 0.0 0.0 0.0 - 

 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Reading Writing Maths Reading Writing Maths

P
u
p
il
s
 a

c
h
ie

v
in

g
 a

s 
e
x
p
e
ct

e
d
 a

n
d
 a

b
o
v
e

Key Stage 2 - 2016

Hammersmith and Fulham and the national average  

Hammersmith and Fulham National

Working as expected Working at greater depth

Page 59



4. SECONDARY SCHOOL OUTCOMES  
 
GCSEs 
 
4.1 In 2016, the reporting requirements for GCSE also changed. 5 or more 

GCSEs at Grades A*-C with English and mathematics is no longer a headline 
performance indicator. 

 
4.2 The four key performance indicators are now:  

 
- Attainment 8 (a score based on points for eight main subjects where A*=8 

- G=1); 
- Progress 8 (a score standardised to a national average of zero, based on 

the GCSE points that would be expected, given prior attainment at KS2); 
- A*-C in English and mathematics: the percentage of students achieving 

an A*-C grade in English and mathematics;  
- English Baccalaureate (a measure based on a combination of English, 

mathematics, science, a language and a humanities subject). 
 

4.3 The borough scored 54.1 (an average Grade C+) for Attainment 8 in 2016, 
compared with 48.5 nationally (an average Grade C-), and 0.1 for Progress 
8, which was above the standardised national score of zero.  

 
4.4 70% of students achieved the A*-C in English and mathematics in 2016, 

compared with 64% in 2015, which was above the national average (59%). 
41% of students achieved the English Baccalaureate in 2016, compared 
with 37% in 2015; this was also considerably above the national average 
(23%).  

 
4.5 The borough also performed well in terms of the deleted indicator, 5 GCSEs 

at Grades A*-C including English and mathematics, at 64%, up from 63% 
in 2015.  

 
4.6 In the DfE national release for GCSE results for 2016, the borough was 

ranked in the top quartile nationally for all key indicators and top in Inner 
London for the English Baccalaureate. 

 
GCSE Indicators 

 

 LBHF NATIONAL 

 2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016 

Grade C+ EM 67% 64% 70% 56% 56% 59% 

5+ A*-C with 

EM 
66% 63% 64% 53% 54% 53% 

EBacc 38% 37% 41% 23% 23% 23% 

 

Page 60



 
 
A Levels 

 
4.7 For A Levels, the percentage of papers awarded the highest grade (Grade 

A*) was 7% in 2016, which was broadly in line with the 2016 national 

average (8%). Those achieving Grade A*-A was 25%, compared with 
26% nationally.  

 

A Levels 

 
LBHF NATIONAL 

2016 2016 

A* 7% 8% 

A*-A 25% 26% 

A*-B 52% 53% 

A*-C 75% 77% 

A*-D 91% 92% 

A*-E 97% 98% 

 

 
Participation in post 16 education and training 

 
4.8 Most young people at 16 transfer successfully into post 16 education, 

training or employment. In July 2016, the participation rate for 

Hammersmith and Fulham school leavers at 16 (96.9%) was above the 
London (95.3%) and national (93.6%) averages. The majority of school 

leavers (96.7%) fulfilled their duty to participate through full-time 
education or training within a school sixth form, sixth form college or 
further education. The proportion of young people who started an 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

C+ English and maths 5+ A*-C with E/M Ebacc

P
u
p
il
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
k
e
y
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

rs

Key Stage 4 - 2016

Hammersmith and Fulham and the national average  

H&F 2014 H&F 2015 H&F 2016 National 2016

Page 61



apprenticeship (0.3%) was below both the London average (2.6%) and 
the national average (5.1%). Making available the right range of local 

post 16 pathways, including apprenticeships and traineeships, to all young 
people is a priority in the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. 

 

 
 

 
5. PERFORMANCE OF PUPIL GROUPS 

 
5.1 In reviewing performance of schools in Hammersmith and Fulham, an 

analysis is also made of the achievements of pupils in vulnerable groups. 

This includes those entitled to a free school meal (FSM), special 
educational needs (SEN) and those with English as an additional language 

(EAL). It also includes minority ethnic pupils and those who are in the care 
of the local authority. 

 

5.2 In 2016, in primary schools, the percentage of pupils entitled to a free 
school meal (FSM, 23%) was considerably above the national average 

(15%) and pupils speaking English as an additional language (EAL, 49%) 
was over twice the national average of 20%. 74% of pupils were from an 

ethnic minority (MEP, compared with 32% nationally), and 16% were SEN 
(compared with 13% nationally).  
 

5.3 In secondary schools, the percentage of pupils entitled to a free school 
meal (21%) was considerably more than the national average (14%), and 

pupils speaking English as an additional language (40%) was almost three 
times the national average of 16%. 71% of pupils were from an ethnic 
minority (compared with 28% nationally), and 13% were SEN (the same 

as nationally). 
 

 

Page 62



 
 

 

5.4 The differences (gaps) between key groups of pupils were smaller locally 
than nationally when deprivation (pupil premium, as measured by free 
school meal entitlement over six years and looked after status) was 

considered. Furthermore, EAL pupils performed above non-EAL pupils, 
which was an exceptional achievement considering that approximately a 

half of EAL speakers arrive in primary school with little or no fluency in 
English. Additionally, achievement was considerably above the national 
averages for each group individually as shown below.  

 

 
 

5.5 Key Stage 4 EAL pupils also performed above non-EAL pupils, and the gap 
was also smaller than nationally for pupil premium, as well as for SEN 
pupils. As at Key Stage 2, achievement was higher than nationally for 

each group individually.   
 

 
 

5.6 In primary and secondary schools, children and young people from all 

reported ethnic minority groups performed above or broadly in line with 
the national percentages. This is performance as measured against those 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

FSM EAL MEP SEN FSM EAL MEP SEN

Pupils on roll in Hammersmith and Fulham schools

Hammersmith and Fulham National 

Primary Secondary

Key Stage 2 - Percentage expected 

or above in reading, writing and 

mathematics

Pupil 

Premium

Non Pupil 

Premium

premium 

gap

Special 

need
No need

Special 

need gap
EAL non EAL EAL gap

Hammersmith and Fulham 2016 52% 71% -19% 23% 72% -49% 62% 60% 2%

National 2016 39% 61% -22% 14% 62% -48% 52% 54% -2%

Key Stage 4 - A*-C in English and 

mathematics

Pupil 

Premium

Non Pupil 

Premium

premium 

gap

Special 

need
No need

Special 

need gap
EAL non EAL EAL gap

Hammersmith and Fulham 2016 55% 81% -26% 34% 78% -44% 73% 68% 5%

National 2016 43% 71% -28% 24% 70% -46% 63% 64% -1%

Page 63



attaining the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics (Key 
Stage 2) and GCSEs at Grade C or above in English and mathematics (Key 

Stage 4).  
 

5.7 In primary schools, the percentage of white pupils achieving as expected 
at Key Stage 2 was 66% (54% nationally), mixed was 58% (56% 
nationally), Asian 68% (56% nationally) and Black 55% (51% nationally).  

 
5.8 In secondary schools at GCSE, the percentage achieving A*-C in English 

and mathematics was 75% (63% nationally), mixed was 69% (63% 
nationally), Asian 78% (68% nationally) and Black 59% (60% nationally). 
 

 
6. LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN  

 
6.1 Key Stage 2:  There were 13 pupils in this cohort. A feature of this cohort 

was the range of SEN and complex learning needs. Ten pupils (78%) 

achieved the expected standard in reading and five pupils (39%) the 
expected standard in mathematics.  

 
6.2 Key Stage 4: There were 20 pupils in this cohort. Three pupils achieved 5 

GCSEs grades A*-C including English and mathematics (15%) and eleven 
achieved 5+ Grades A*-G (55%). Fifteen pupils (75%) achieved at least 
one graded result.   

 
6.3 The results for looked after children (LAC) need to be placed within their 

particular context. Schools face significant and particular challenges in 
improving the attainment of LAC.  Historically, LAC have achieved much 
lower outcomes than their peers.  However, the improved performance of 

LBHF LAC in 2016 indicates successful strategies can be put in place to 
achieve better outcomes.  Effective strategies include close collaboration 

with the LBHF Virtual School, consistent and robust identification of needs 
through effective Personal Education Plan and targeted support using Pupil 
Premium funding. 

 
 

7. OFSTED INSPECTION OUTCOMES  
 

7.1 The percentage of schools in Hammersmith and Fulham which were rated 

outstanding or good by Ofsted inspectors in 2015/16 was 91%, with 43% 
outstanding. This was above the national average (89% and 21% 
respectively).  

 

2016 OFSTED 

Outcomes 
(All state schools) 

National 

(2015/16) 

Hammersmith and Fulham  

(2015/16) 

Outstanding/Good 89% 91%  
(53/58 schools) 

Outstanding 21% 43%  (25) 

Good 68% 48%  (28) 

Page 64



Requiring 

Improvement  

10%  5%   (3) 

Inadequate  2%  3%  (2) 

 

 
8. SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PRIORITIES 

 
8.1 The School Standards Service in the Education Department leads on 

providing the council support for school improvement in Hammersmith 

and Fulham. In line with the local framework for school improvement, this 
service allocates a lead adviser to each school to provide support and 

advice. The lead advisers undertake core visits to all state schools, both 
maintained schools and academies, and help with schools accessing the 
additional ‘buy back’ services that the Education Department offers.   

 
8.2 Having reviewed the school performance this year, the following service 

priorities have been identified for raising standards: 
 

o To increase further the percentage of good/outstanding schools in the 
borough through appropriately targeted local authority interventions, 
and establishing effective improvement partnerships between schools; 

 
o To offer training and support for primary school leaders in assessment 

moderation and in the teaching and assessment of all the core subject 
areas in the new primary curriculum, especially reading 
comprehension; 

 
o To support early years practitioners with establishing effective 

assessment processes and with the sharing of best practice between 
settings through the early years best practice network; 

 

o To develop partnership arrangements with academies and the Regional 
Schools Commissioner that enables the service to challenge and 

support school performance in academies; 
 

o To support and advise secondary schools on their raising achievement 

plans, including the provision of a best practice workshop and the 
continuation of the education excellence grant (with each school being 

allocated £5K to support their plans in 2016-17); 
 

o To support access to and the delivery of quality independent advice 

and guidance on the range of local post 16 pathways available to 
young people, including apprenticeships, in order to continue to reduce 

NEET levels and further increase post 16 participation;  
 

o To continue the drive to improve outcomes for looked after children 

through supporting the work of the Virtual School; 
 

o To lead on sharing best practice between schools in the provision of 
effective education for SEN support children; 

Page 65



 
o To establish robust plans for the financial sustainability of the 

additional discretionary ‘buy back’ traded services to schools;  
 

o To work with schools to strengthen school to school best practice 
networks and partnerships, and to make sure all schools can access 
learning from the best practice in high performing local schools and the 

offer from the teaching school alliances; 
 

o To continue to support schools with their teacher recruitment and 
retention strategies to make sure that they are able to recruit the best 
teachers and leaders for our schools.  

Page 66



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
27 February 2017 

 

 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Report of the Chair 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Kim Dero, Director of Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: David Abbott,  
Scrutiny Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2063 
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The Committee is asked to give consideration to its work programme. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The Committee is asked to consider the proposed work programme and suggest 
further items for consideration where appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
None. 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
Appendix 1 – Work Programme 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


Updated 17 February 2017 

CEPAC Work Programme 2017 
 
 
24 April 2017 | Report deadline: 10 April 

 School Organisation and Investment Strategy - Annual Update 

 School Pupils with Medical Health Needs and Learning Disabilities - The 
emphasis is to be on ensuring they are receiving a high quality education and 
that the move between hospital/home/school is smooth and supportive to 
ensuring the impact of their medical condition is not detrimental to their 
educational attainment. Include Mandy Lawson commissioned work on 
pathways and future planning for 0-5 year olds. 

 Skills for Young People - to consider a range of initiatives aiming to provide 
new skills for young people. Link with the Youth Council manifesto / feedback 
from young people. Also link with NEETS work (Ian Heggs) – apprenticeships 
and other initiatives. Also include the support into work for disabled children / 
transition arrangements. 

 
NEW MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 
12 June 2017 | Report deadline: 29 May 

 Supplementary Schools – An update on the support given to supplementary 
schools and the contact between them and mainstream schools. The Chair 
wanted officers to investigate what supplementary schools wanted in the way 
of support and develop our policy on this. The Chair also requested that there 
was a single named person for them to contact. 

 Sports in Schools - Provision of sports in schools. 
 
 
Requested Items 

 Transitions Task Group – May 

 School Playground Safety 

 Permanency and Adoption and Fostering - June 

 Update on the Arts Strategy (for young people) - arts in schools, links with 
local arts venues, activities for young people etc. 

 Troubled Families Phase 2 

 Family Learning 

 Schools Workload Kitemark – Explore the possibility of introducing a 
workload kite mark for schools - a scheme was running in Nottingham and 
was being trialled in Ealing – aimed at reducing the workload of teachers and 
improving recruitment and retention. 

 Apprenticeships 

 Placement Review (Commissioning) 
 
 
Briefing Notes 
Children’s Oral Health Update – coming 1st Q. 2017 

Page 68


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Executive Director's Update
	7 Child Poverty Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Draft Child Poverty Strategy

	8 School Performance Report 2017
	10 Work Programme
	Work Programme


